# **Maritime Spatial Planning in Europe**

Discussion Paper on the Challenges and Potential Opportunities Around the Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas



**Report for the Renewables Grid Initiative** 

**PJ Stephenson** 

Disclaimer: The findings and conclusions in this report do not necessarily reflect the views of RGI, OCEaN or their members.

Cover photo: Common eider near Aberdeen Bay Wind Farm, Scotland, UK. According to Vattenfall, this wind farm prevents in excess of 134,000 tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions annually. © PJ Stephenson

Published August 2023

Proposed citation: Stephenson, P.J. 2023 *Maritime Spatial Planning in Europe. Discussion Paper on the Challenges and Potential Opportunities Around the Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas.* Report for the Renewables Grid Initiative, Berlin, Germany. Available at: <u>https://renewables-grid.eu/publications.html</u>

# Contents

Executive Summary	1
Acknowledgements	3
Abbreviations and Acronyms	3
1. Introduction: Offshore Wind Energy and Maritime Spatial Planning	4
2. Objectives and Methods of the Review	6
3. Offshore Wind Energy and Nature Conservation: Issues Around Colocation	7
3.1 Policy Context	7
3.1.1 Species conservation	7
3.1.2 Marine protected areas	7
3.1.3 Other effective area-based conservation measures	10
3.1.4 Policy issues around colocation	10
3.2 Potential Impacts of Offshore Wind Energy on Marine Habitats and Species	12
3.2.1 Potential negative impacts on biodiversity	12
3.2.2 Potential enhancement of biodiversity	13
3.2.3 Potential impacts on MPAs	15
3.2.4 Case studies of offshore wind farms in MPAs	16
3.2.5 The environmental impacts of offshore wind energy in perspective	18
3.3 Current Status of Marine Protected Areas	19
3.3.1 MPA management plans	19
3.3.2 Effectiveness of MPAs	20
3.3.3 Integrating MPAs into maritime spatial planning	20
3.4 Mitigating Impacts When Offshore Winds Farms Are Colocated With MPAs	21
3.5 Knowledge Gaps	22
4.1 Colocating Offshore Wind Energy with Fisheries and Aquaculture	24
4.1.1 Fisheries	24
4.1.2 Aquaculture and mariculture	25
4.2 Colocating Offshore Wind Energy with Other Renewable Energy Infrastructure	26
4.3 Colocating Offshore Wind Energy with Maritime Transport Routes	27
4.4 Colocating Offshore Wind Energy with Tourism	27
5. Conclusions and Recommendations	29
5.1 Improving MPA Management and Protection	29
5.2 Exploring Colocation with Other Maritime Activities	31
5.3 Reducing Impacts and Enhancing Biodiversity Around Offshore Wind Farms	34
5.4 Monitoring and Adaptive Management	36
6. References Cited	38

# **Executive Summary**

#### Introduction

Renewable energy is central to the global effort to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and tackle climate change and since the early 1990s Europe has led the way in offshore renewables, especially offshore wind energy (OWE). European countries have set ambitious national and regional targets to increase the share of renewable energy in coming years. However, OWE is only one of many demands placed on European oceans and coasts and maritime spatial planning (MSP) needs to encompass multi-use of the seascapes and the colocation of activities wherever possible and appropriate.

The European Union has committed to expand its network of marine protected areas (MPAs) to deliver regional and global biodiversity targets. In this context, an emerging literature is increasingly considering whether conservation objectives and energy generation can be colocated. This discussion paper was therefore commissioned by the Renewables Grid Initiative to explore the issues around MSP for offshore wind energy and how colocation of OWE with MPAs, OECMs (other effective areabased conservation measures) and other uses of the ocean could help or hinder European sustainability goals for energy and nature. It involved an assessment of the current policy context, status of MPAs, the impacts of OWE on the environment, case studies of OWE in MPAs, and colocation issues around other maritime activities.

#### **Main Findings**

**Policy context:** EU policy lacks specificity on the colocation of OWE and MPAs but allows scope for developments such as OWE in Natura 2000 sites if significant disturbance of species can be avoided or if it is in the overriding public interest. National policies on colocation of OWE in MPAs vary, with some countries prohibiting colocation and others allowing development if environmental impacts are judged to be compatible with MPA objectives. Currently, there is no clear guidance or policy on if and how an offshore wind farm can be colocated with an OECM.

**Environmental impacts:** Although offshore wind farms may be less damaging than many other human uses of the ocean (e.g., fishing, dredging, shipping, oil and gas exploitation), OWE nonetheless has the potential to threaten species and habitats. Colocation of OWE with MPAs can be risky, and the degree of threat posed to any given MPA will depend on the taxonomic focus and goals of that MPA. Regional differences in environmental sensitivity to human activities including OWE are also evident. Case studies with long-term data on the impacts of OWE on MPAs are difficult to find and largely inconclusive. The reef effect, reserve effect and active nature enhancement can increase some habitats and species in offshore wind farms. However, an increase in abundance of some organisms around offshore wind farms does not necessarily deliver conservation objectives, largely because the resultant species communities may differ from those found in natural habitats.

The state of MPAs: Many MPAs lack management plans and associated objectives, and many are not assigned an IUCN management category. Many European MPAs do not offer effective protection to species and habitats, due to their small size, weak enforcement of regulations, and inadequate restrictions on offtake. MPAs are not adequately integrated into MSP processes which are not fully applying the ecosystem-approach advocated by EU policy.

Knowledge gaps: There remain some key knowledge gaps around the environmental impacts of OWE and suitable monitoring and mitigation measures. Case studies of OWE colocation with MPAs need to be further studied and monitored and results and lessons shared. Reducing knowledge gaps and improving monitoring would help reduce reliance on the Precautionary Principle and allow more data-driven MSP and adaptive management.

**Other maritime activities:** Other human uses of the ocean, especially passive fishing, aquaculture, shipping and tourism, may provide more appropriate and less risky colocation opportunities with OWE than MPAs.

#### **Conclusions and Recommendations**

Marine protected area networks and offshore wind farms will continue to expand across Europe in coming years to attain global and regional energy and biodiversity objectives. Based on the findings of this review, several preliminary recommendations can be made to help the diverse stakeholders involved in European MSP create the enabling conditions for the colocation of sustainable economic development activities without jeopardising the conservation of the marine ecosystems upon which, ultimately, most other activities depend.

**Recommendation 1:** Governments and their partners need to improve the management and protection of MPAs and better integrate MPAs into maritime spatial planning, minimizing colocation with other activities.

**Recommendation 2**: Opportunities for the colocation of offshore wind energy with other maritime activities should be optimised through data-driven maritime spatial planning and by addressing key obstacles.

- 2a. Common definitions need to be agreed and adopted
- 2b. Stakeholder collaboration needs to be improved
- 2c. Research needs to fill gaps in knowledge that block colocation
- 2d. Pilots for multi-use zoning and multi-purpose platforms need to be expanded.

**Recommendation 3:** Best practices and promising innovations to reduce environmental impacts and enhance biodiversity around offshore wind farms need to be expanded by energy companies and their partners.

**3a**. Mitigation measures to reduce impacts need to be enhanced in and around all offshore wind farms

**3b**. Actions to proactively promote nature need to be enhanced in and around all offshore wind farms.

**Recommendation 4:** Where colocation of OWE with MPAs does occur, mitigation actions and proactive conservation efforts need to be optimized and their impacts monitored.

**Recommendation 5:** Systematic monitoring, research and data sharing is required to track the state of marine species and habitats in both MPAs and in and around offshore wind farms to inform MSP and adaptive management and to fill key knowledge gaps.

# **Acknowledgements**

The discussion paper was written by <u>PJ Stephenson</u>, an independent conservation and sustainability consultant. PJ is grateful to Antonella Battaglini and Cristina Simioli of the Renewables Grid Initiative for their help, guidance and insights, and for putting their faith in him to conduct this review. He would also like to thank the RGI Offshore Energy and Nature team and OCEaN members who provided advice, ideas and feedback during this work.

While the author greatly appreciates the input he received, the findings and conclusions in the paper are his own and do not necessarily reflect the views of RGI, OCEaN or their members.

# **Abbreviations and Acronyms**

ASCOBANS	Agreement on the Conservation of Small Cetaceans in the Baltic, North-Ea			
	Atlantic, Irish and North Seas			
CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity			
EC	European Commission			
EEA	European Environment Agency			
EIA	environmental impact assessment			
EU	European Union			
HELCOM	Helsinki Commission			
IAS	Invasive alien species			
IPBES	Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem			
	Services			
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature			
MSP	maritime (or marine) spatial planning			
NbS	Nature-based Solutions			
NGO	non-governmental organisation			
NID	Nature-inclusive Design			
OCEaN	Offshore Coalition for Energy and Nature			
OECM	other effective area-based conservation measure			
OWE	offshore wind energy			
RGI	Renewables Grid Initiative			
SAC	Special Areas of Conservation (Habitats Directive)			
SEA	strategic environmental assessment			
SPA	Special Protection Areas (Birds Directive)			
TSO	transmission system operator			
UK	United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland			

# 1. Introduction: Offshore Wind Energy and Maritime Spatial Planning

Renewable energy is central to the global effort to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and tackle climate change. Since the early 1990s, Europe has led the way in offshore renewables, especially offshore wind energy (OWE). The Baltic Sea and the North Sea have been the two main hubs of development, but renewable energy projects are expanding into other European seas.

Through the 2030 Climate and Energy Framework, the European Union (EU) set targets to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 40% compared to 1990 levels, to increase the share of renewable energy to 32% of final energy consumption, and to improve energy efficiency by 32.5% by 2030 (EC, 2023a). However, as part of the European Green Deal, in September 2020 the Commission proposed to raise the 2030 greenhouse gas emission reduction target, including emissions and removals, to at least 55% compared to 1990 (EC, 2023b). The EU Strategy to Harness the Potential of Offshore Renewable Energy (EC, 2020b) underlines commitments to achieve the broader energy framework and the Directive on renewable energy (EU, 2018) by attaining 60 GW of installed capacity of offshore wind energy by 2030, and 300 GW by 2050, from a baseline of 12 GW in 2020. Achieving this ambitious goal "will require identifying and using a much larger number of sites for offshore renewable energy production and connection to the power transmission grid" (EC, 2020b). This will be accelerated by the REPowerEU plan (EC, 2022) which highlights offshore wind as "a significant future opportunity". Individual Member States are even more ambitious, with the sum of their national offshore wind energy targets currently standing at between 109 and 112 GW for 2030, far higher than the original EU ambition of 60 GW (EC, 2023c). This means European countries will need to scale up OWE installation almost sevenfold by the end of the decade to meet their national objectives (Janipour, 2023).

However, OWE is only one of many demands placed on European oceans and coasts. In addition to renewable energy generation (mostly wind but also wave and solar), the extraction of oil, gas, minerals and aggregates, commercial and recreational fisheries, aquaculture, shipping, tourism, military uses and other activities all vie for space in marine ecosystems. As well as using or exploiting these ecosystems, European countries strive to protect and conserve nature and contribute to global biodiversity goals (EC, 2020a). For these reasons, the EU offshore energy strategy (EC, 2020b) underlines the need for states to plan ahead, assess the environmental, social and economic sustainability of renewable energy and ensure its coexistence with other maritime activities.

The EU Directive establishing a framework for maritime spatial planning (EU, 2014) provides a means of addressing explicitly the need to plan the use of European seas. It encourages maritime spatial planning (MSP)<sup>1</sup> for "the effective management of marine activities and the sustainable use of marine and coastal resources, by creating a framework for consistent, transparent, sustainable and evidence- based decision-making" (EU, 2014). The purpose is "to promote sustainable development and to identify the utilisation of maritime space for different sea uses as well as to manage spatial uses and conflicts in marine areas". As well as EU policies encouraging MSP, regional seas conventions and national governments develop strategies and plans for sustainable use of their oceans.

Maritime uses of our oceans have intensified in recent decades leading to the development of the concept of multi-use (Schupp et al., 2019) and discussions on whether or not some activities can occur together or alongside each other, often referred to as colocation. The EU explicitly states that MSP "aims at identifying and encouraging multi-purpose uses" (EU, 2014). The Offshore Coalition for Energy and Nature (OCEaN) also says that "multiple use of marine areas should be considered as a tool to conciliate between conflicting interests" (OCEaN, 2021). The use of marine space need not be mutually exclusive (Vaughan & Agardy, 2020) and therefore understanding how OWE and other activities can and cannot share marine space is vital (RSPB, 2022). In this context, "an emerging

Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Maritime spatial planning is defined as a process by which the relevant Member State's authorities analyse and organise human activities in marine areas to achieve ecological, economic and social objectives (EU, 2014).

literature is increasingly considering whether conservation objectives and energy generation can be colocated" (Thurstan et al., 2018). Several offshore wind farms<sup>2</sup> have already been built in marine protected areas (MPAs) and several more are planned (e.g., Sanders et al., 2017; Ashley et al., 2018; Defingou et al., 2019; Allen et al., 2020; RSPB 2023). What are the implications of colocation for European ambitions for renewable energy and conservation?

The Renewables Grid Initiative (RGI) is a unique collaboration of European non-governmental organisations (NGOs) and transmission system operators (TSOs) which promotes fair, transparent, sustainable grid development to enable the growth of renewables to achieve full decarbonisation. In the context of its Marine Grid Declaration of 2019 (RGI, 2019), RGI members and other partners support the use of MSP for marine grid activities, in accordance with the EU Maritime Spatial Planning Directive (EU, 2014). This discussion paper was therefore commissioned to understand the challenges and opportunities around MSP for OWE and how colocation of OWE with MPAs, OECMs (other effective area-based conservation measures) and other uses of the ocean could help or hinder European sustainability goals for energy and nature.



© Alexander Belokurov www.imagenature.com

Offshore wind turbines near Copenhagen. The world's first offshore wind farm was commissioned by Ørsted in Denmark in 1991.

Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Based on EU definitions, an offshore wind farm is considered to be a group of wind turbines that can cover several square kilometres of sea to harness offshore wind energy.

# 2. Objectives and Methods of the Review

This discussion paper is based on a review that was undertaken between January and July 2023 by an independent consultant commissioned by RGI. The review set out to identify the issues, challenges and potential opportunities around the colocation of OWE with other maritime activities, especially MPAs and OECMs. The aim was to assess the current policy context, the status of MPAs, the impacts of OWE on the environment, case studies of OWE in MPAs, and colocation issues around other maritime activities.

The consultant conducted a desk-top literature review to assess the relationship between OWE and nature conservation, as well as other uses of marine ecosystems. Documents were identified through online search engines, such as Scopus, Google and Google Scholar. A snowballing technique was used to source other literature from that uncovered. Material reviewed included not only scientific papers in books and peer-reviewed journals, but also regulatory policies and frameworks, regional strategies and monitoring plans, general and sector-specific guidelines, reports, reviews, and other documents and websites identified as relevant.

In addition, the consultant held several informal interviews with thematic experts to seek their input, identify additional information sources and benchmark findings. A draft report was shared with members of OCEaN which yielded feedback and supplementary reference material that was integrated into the final version of the discussion paper.

# 3. Offshore Wind Energy and Nature Conservation: Issues Around Colocation

# **3.1 Policy Context**

The EU Biodiversity Strategy (EC, 2020a) recognises the importance of marine resources and the need to ensure creation of protected areas, restoration of ecosystems, reduction of pollution and alien invasive species, and no deterioration in threatened species and habitats. Both EU directives on maritime spatial planning (EU, 2008, 2014) advocate for Member States to take an ecosystem-based approach to MSP and establish characteristics that define "good environmental status", thereby encouraging conservation. In June 2022, the EC adopted a proposal for a new nature restoration law (EC, 2023d) which was approved (in a modified form) in July 2023 (Gentili, 2023). If and when the regulation comes into force, Member States will be expected to develop National Restoration Plans showing how they will deliver on the targets, then monitor and report on their progress. Restoration of marine ecosystems will include "restoring marine habitats such as seagrass beds or sediment bottoms that deliver significant benefits, including for climate change mitigation, and restoring the habitats of iconic marine species such as dolphins and porpoises, sharks and seabirds" (EC, 2023d).

## **3.1.1 Species conservation**

Various international conventions identify habitats and species that need to be conserved (see Soria-Rodríguez, 2021, for a review). In the context of European seas, conservation priorities include species identified in the EU Birds and Habitats Directives (see below) and species identified by the Convention on Migratory Species and its associated agreements on small cetaceans (ASCOBANS: Agreement on the Conservation of Small Cetaceans in the Baltic, North-East Atlantic, Irish and North Seas), seals (WSSA: Agreement on the Conservation of Seals in the Wadden Sea), bats (EUROBATS: Agreement on the Conservation of Populations of European Bats) and waterbirds (AEWA: Agreement on the Conservation of African–Eurasian Migratory Waterbirds), as well as wetland sites of international importance identified by the Ramsar Convention. In addition, regional seas conventions identify priority species for conservation (e.g., OSPAR Commission, 2008a; HELCOM, 2021).

#### 3.1.2 Marine protected areas

A protected area is "a clearly defined geographical space, recognised, dedicated and managed, through legal or other effective means, to achieve the long-term conservation of nature with associated ecosystem services and cultural values" (Dudley, 2008). A marine protected area or MPA is a globally applicable, general term to describe any protected area in the marine realm which aims to conserve nature and maintain healthy oceans (UNEP-WCMC, 2014). Impetus for MPA designation is often derived from international commitments (Vaughan & Agardy, 2020). Global ambitions for protecting nature were clarified in the Strategic Plan on Biodiversity 2011–2020 (CBD, 2010) and its so-called Aichi Targets. Aichi Target 11 called on countries to conserve by 2020 at least 10% of coastal and marine areas through "well-connected systems of protected areas and other effective area-based conservation measures" (CBD, 2010).

The post-2020 Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework has set higher ambitions under its target 3:

Ensure and enable that by 2030 at least 30 per cent of terrestrial and inland water areas, and of marine and coastal areas, especially areas of particular importance for biodiversity and ecosystem functions and services, are effectively conserved and managed through ecologically representative, well-connected and equitably governed systems of protected areas and other effective area-based conservation measures... (CBD, 2022).

The EU Habitats Directive, adopted in 1992 (EC, 1992), and the EU Birds Directive, adopted in 1979 and amended in 2009 (EC, 2009), promote the establishment and conservation of Natura 2000 protected areas across Europe. Under the Habitats Directive (Articles 3 and 4), Member States

designate Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) to ensure the favourable conservation status of each habitat type and species throughout their range in the EU. Under the Birds Directive (Article 4), the network must include Special Protection Areas (SPAs) designated for 194 particularly threatened species and all migratory bird species (see EC, 2023e). SPAs are designated according to scientific criteria, such as if they are home to at least 1% of the population of a vulnerable species or they represent a wetland of international importance for migratory waterfowl. While Member States may choose the most appropriate criteria, they must ensure that all the 'most suitable territories', both in number and surface area, are designated. In addition, the EU Marine Strategy Framework Directive of 2008 states that "the establishment of marine protected areas... is an important contribution to the achievement of good environmental status" (EU, 2008).



© PJ Stephenson MPAs are established to protect a diversity of marine life above and below the water.

Besides global and European visions of establishing coherent networks of MPAs, important work is also being carried out by the regional seas conventions: HELCOM (Baltic Sea), OSPAR (North-east Atlantic Ocean), the Barcelona Convention (Mediterranean Sea) and the Bucharest Convention (Black Sea) (EEA, 2015a). For example, OSPAR was the first regional organisation that protected marine biodiversity in areas beyond national jurisdiction. Likewise, some European states have designated national MPA networks, either to underpin domestic ambitions or to enforce regional or EU legislation. For example, for national reasons, France designates Marine Nature Parks (*Parcs naturels marins*), the Netherlands establishes reserves under the Dutch Nature Conservation Act (*Wet natuurbescherming*) and the UK designates Marine Conservation Zones. In some cases, countries also collaborate on transboundary MPAs, examples including the Pelagos sanctuary in the Mediterranean which is jointly managed by France, Italy and Monaco for the protection of marine mammals.

The EU's Biodiversity Strategy (EC, 2020a) calls for the expansion and the effective management of the EU's network of protected areas to cover 30% of the sea. At least one third of protected areas – representing 10% of the EU's sea – should be strictly protected (i.e., with no human use). Therefore, MPAs of different designations are a key tool for biodiversity conservation.

The precise goals of different MPAs vary, as does the degree to which other uses are permitted at each type of site. IUCN defines a series of categories for protected areas and MPAs, with category I being the most protected and category VI being the least protected (Box 1). In MPAs, shipping, recreation and tourism are permitted in categories II to VI, whereas renewable energy generation is only allowed in categories IV to VI (Day et al., 2019). Fishing, aquaculture, mining and dredging are only usually permitted in categories V and VI. However, as defined by the CBD's Target 3, countries need to ensure that any sustainable use in MPAs is "fully consistent with conservation outcomes" (CBD, 2022).

## Box 1. Marine protected areas and management categories

Momentum for the creation of marine protected areas or MPAs increased after the first World Congress on National Parks in 1962. At the Congress, recommendations were made for governments to "examine, as a matter of urgency, the possibility of creating marine parks or reserves" and by 1970 there were already 118 MPAs in 27 countries (Humphreys & Clark, 2020). By 2021, 28.1 million km<sup>2</sup> (7.74%) of coastal waters and the ocean were found within MPAs and OECMs (UNEP-WCMC & IUCN, 2021). Recent trends in MPA designation include the protection of high sea areas beyond national jurisdiction, and growing recognition of the importance of protecting largescale marine areas of more than 150,000 km<sup>2</sup> (Laffoley et al., 2019).

IUCN has defined different categories of protected area (Day et al., 2019):

- **Ia Strict nature reserve**: Strictly protected for biodiversity and geological/ geomorphological features, where human visitation, use and impacts are controlled and limited to ensure protection of the conservation values.
- **Ib Wilderness area**: Usually large unmodified or slightly modified areas, retaining their natural character and influence, without permanent or significant human habitation, protected and managed to preserve their natural condition.
- II National Park: Large natural or near-natural areas protecting large-scale ecological processes with characteristic species and ecosystems, which have environmentally and culturally compatible spiritual, scientific, educational, recreational and visitor opportunities.
- III Natural monument or feature: Areas set aside to protect a specific natural monument, which can be a landform, sea mount, marine cavern, geological feature such as a cave, or a living feature such as an ancient grove.
- IV Habitat/species management area: Areas to protect particular species or habitats, where management reflects this priority. Many will need regular, active interventions to meet the needs of particular species or habitats. Extractive research is permitted, as is renewable energy generation and restoration or enhancement for other reasons (e.g., beach replenishment, fish aggregation, artificial reefs).
- V Protected landscape or seascape: Where the interaction of people and nature over time has produced a distinct character with significant ecological, biological, cultural and scenic value: and where safeguarding the integrity of this interaction is vital to protecting and sustaining the area and its associated nature conservation and other values.
- VI Protected areas with sustainable use of natural resources: Areas which conserve ecosystems, together with associated cultural values and traditional natural resource management systems. Generally large, mainly in a natural condition, with a proportion under sustainable natural resource management and where low-level non-industrial natural resource use compatible with nature conservation is seen as one of the main aims.

The category of a protected area should be based around the primary management objectives, which should apply to at least three-quarters of the protected area. The management categories are applied with a typology of **governance types**, a description of who holds authority and responsibility for the protected area. IUCN defines four governance types:

- Governance by government: Federal or national ministry/agency in charge; sub-national ministry/agency in charge; government-delegated management (e.g., to NGO).
- Shared governance: Collaborative management (various degrees of influence); joint management (pluralist management board; transboundary management (various levels across international borders).
- **Private governance**: By individual owner; by non-profit organisations (NGOs, universities, cooperatives); by for-profit organisations (individuals or corporate).
- Governance by indigenous peoples and local communities: Indigenous peoples' conserved areas and territories; community conserved areas declared and run by local communities.

Marine reserves<sup>3</sup> are an important type of MPA in which all forms of extraction and use are prohibited. Results show that existing European marine reserves foster significant positive increases in key biological variables (density, biomass, body size, and species richness) compared with areas receiving less protection but, for marine reserves to achieve their ecological and social goals, they must be designed, managed, and enforced properly (Fenberg et al., 2012). An important step towards the protection of Europe's marine ecosystems is the establishment of marine reserves within wider-use MPAs as connected networks across large spatial scales (Fenberg et al., 2012). IUCN (Day et al., 2019) underlines the importance of strict protection no-take zones for biodiversity as well as fisheries. Currently, only 1% of Europe's seas are strictly protected (EC, 2020a), well short of the ambition of 10% strict protection.

## 3.1.3 Other effective area-based conservation measures

Other effective area-based conservation measure (OECM) is a term coined by the CBD (2010, 2022) which was defined with criteria in 2018 (CBD, 2018). OECMs are geographically defined areas other than protected areas which are governed and managed in ways that achieve positive and sustained long-term outcomes for the in situ conservation of biodiversity with associated ecosystem functions and services and, where applicable, cultural, spiritual, socio-economic, and other locally relevant values (CBD, 2018). OECMs are meant to provide effective long-term conservation of whole ecosystems with high biodiversity value, with conservation outcomes equivalent to those of protected areas. The feature that distinguishes between a protected area and an OECM is that the former has a primary conservation objective whereas the latter delivers the effective in situ conservation of biodiversity regardless of its objectives (Maxwell et al., 2020).

Designation of OECMs offers a significant opportunity to recognise de facto effective long-term conservation that is taking place outside currently designated protected areas under a range of governance and management regimes, implemented by a diverse set of actors, including by indigenous peoples and local communities, the private sector and government agencies (IUCN WCPA Task Force on OECMs, 2019; IUCN WCPA, 2022). However, there remains a degree of uncertainty about what qualifies as an OECM and the designation process of OECMs is still unclear, especially in the marine environment (Shabtay et al., 2019).

#### 3.1.4 Policy issues around colocation

# EU policy

The EU Strategy to Harness the Potential of Offshore Renewable Energy (EC, 2020b) encourages the coexistence of OWE with activities such as fisheries, aquaculture, shipping, tourism, defence and infrastructure deployment, but it does not explicitly propose colocation with MPAs and OECMs. However, it does note that it is possible to develop sustainable economic activities in MPAs. The EU Biodiversity Strategy (EC, 2020a) simply notes the potential for fish stock regeneration around OWE, which is a fisheries management issue rather than a conservation issue. The Habitats Directive (EC, 1992) states that "any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the site" has to be subject to an appropriate assessment if it is likely to have a significant effect on the MPA. National authorities should then "agree to the plan or project only after having ascertained that it will not adversely affect the integrity of the site concerned" (EC, 1992).

The significance of an impact on species is important in the context of the Habitats Directive. Although the term is not defined in the Directive, later EU guidance states that in a Special Area for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Marine reserves are defined as ocean or intertidal areas that are fully protected from activities that remove animals and seaweeds or alter habitats—such as fishing, aquaculture, dredging and mining—except as needed for scientific monitoring (PISCO, 2011).

Conservation "disturbance of a species must be avoided in so far as it could be significant<sup>4</sup> in relation to the Directive's objectives" (EU, 2019). Therefore, "the notion of what is 'significant' needs to be interpreted objectively" (EU, 2020). The EU has offered suggestions on how this might be achieved through appropriate significance assessments. "The significance assessment always needs to be underpinned by solid scientific arguments and should refer to the conservation objectives of the site" (EU, 2020). For habitats, the EU suggests significance is at least determined by quantifying the area of EU-protected habitat predicted to deteriorate compared with the total baseline habitat area and the importance of the habitat for EU-protected species. For species, impacts need to be considered at a population level to determine whether they are biologically significant (Bailey et al., 2014).

Member States will need "to take all the appropriate actions to ensure that no deterioration or significant disturbance occurs" and deterioration and disturbance caused by a project "should be assessed against the conservation objectives of the site and the conservation condition of the species and habitat types present in the site" (EU, 2019). Any projects likely to significantly affect a Natura 2000 site will therefore need to be assessed through an environmental impact assessment (EIA). However, a Habitats Directive clause allows projects in Nature 2000 sites even if they are assessed to have negative implications "for imperative reasons of overriding public interest" (EC, 1992).

The REPowerEU plan (EC, 2022) introduces the designation of go-to areas<sup>5</sup> for renewables that shortens and simplifies permitting. This has raised concerns that some environmental safeguards in planning may be bypassed or ignored in go-to areas (WWF EPO, 2022d). And how likely is it that countries will see current concerns about energy security arising from the war in Ukraine (EC, 2022), as well as the ongoing climate crisis (UNEP, 2021), as imperative reasons "of overriding public interest" to develop OWE in MPAs in spite of environmental concerns?

# National policies

While some forms of sustainable use are permitted in some types of MPA in Europe, the level of protection or exploitation is unclear due to a lack of data (EEA, 2015a). National policies specifically on the colocation of OWE and MPAs vary. For example, in the North Sea, the Dutch government has agreed through the North Sea Agreement with stakeholders (OFL, 2020) that no offshore wind farms will be placed within Natura 2000 areas. A similar policy is followed by other Member States such as Estonia and Latvia, whereas Belgium and Germany have plans to build offshore wind farms in MPAs (WWF EPO, 2022b). According to WWF-France (2019), there are 20 proposed offshore wind farms in 14 Natura 2000 sites in Greece. In France, offshore wind farms are not deemed compatible with National Natural Reserves or National Parks but consent may be authorised in Natura 2000 sites on a case-by-case basis, and in Marine Natural Parks if the impacts are adjudged to be insignificant (Defingou et al., 2019). In the UK, offshore wind farms can be placed in MPAs and MPAs can be created around offshore wind farms if objectives are compatible (Ashley et al., 2018). The UK government's Offshore Energy Strategic Environmental Assessment (2008-2009) recognised the potential for colocating wind farms with MPAs to reduce potential spatial conflict: "Where the objectives of the conservation sites and renewable energy development are coincident, preference should be given to locating wind farms in such areas to reduce the potential spatial conflict with other users" (DECC, 2009).

# Policy on colocation with OECMs

IUCN guidelines state that environmentally-damaging industrial activities and infrastructure development should not occur in OECMs (IUCN WCPA Task Force on OECMs, 2019), and multiple-use production areas (e.g., commercial fisheries areas) should not be promoted as OECMs (Woodley et

Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Deterioration of a natural habitat or a habitat of a species is not qualified by the need to be significant in relation to the Directive's objectives, it must simply be avoided altogether" (EU, 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A renewables go-to area is a location designated by a Member State as particularly suitable for the installation of plants for the production of energy from renewable sources, other than biomass combustion plants (EC, 2022).

al., 2021). However, none of the reviews of OECMs to date (IUCN WCPA Task Force on OECMs, 2019; Woodley et al., 2021; IUCN WCPA, 2022) mentions renewable energy explicitly. Even so, it would seem that there are some challenges to classifying offshore wind farms as OECMs, largely because they are not likely to allow for the conservation of "specialised ecosystems in their entirety" or do not protect species through "in-situ conservation of biodiversity as a whole", as specified as necessary for an OECM by IUCN (IUCN WCPA Task Force on OECMs, 2019). Offshore wind farms with other colocated activities, such as aquaculture, presumably count as multiple-use production zones and are also likely to be excluded. However, there does not seem to be a formal process to clarify if and how an offshore wind farm could qualify as an OECM. As a result, OECMs are not yet adequately integrated into maritime spatial planning processes (Shabtay et al., 2019).

# 3.2 Potential Impacts of Offshore Wind Energy on Marine Habitats and Species

## 3.2.1 Potential negative impacts on biodiversity

While offshore wind energy offers immense potential for clean, green sources of power, there are some environmental impacts associated with the construction, operation and decommissioning of the infrastructure – the turbines and their towers and foundations, the offshore substations, and the associated submarine power cables that connect to onshore electricity substations and grids. While the precise environmental footprint of an offshore wind farm will depend on its location in relation to threatened habitats, bird migration routes, and other natural features, there are several potential impacts on biodiversity.



The sensitivity of yellow-legged gulls (*Larus michahellis*) to collision or displacement risk from offshore wind farms is unknown and needs to be studied further, according to BirdLife International (2021).

© PJ Stephenson

While there is still much to understand about many of the pressures placed on nature by OWE, Bennun et al. (2021) identify fourteen potential environmental impacts. Particular attention has been paid to the potential for birds and bats to collide with the turbines. Although collision rates are hard to determine at sea and data are sparse (Thaxter et al., 2017), some studies have produced estimates for bird collisions, ranging from one collision per turbine per year (Petersen et al., 2006) to 16.5 to 21.5 collisions per turbine per year (Newton & Little, 2009), with some taxa more susceptible than others (King, 2019). There are also concerns about, for example, habitat loss and degradation (under the foundations or caused by sediment plumes) as well as hydrodynamic changes caused by construction, and the effects on wildlife of pollution and noise from construction activities and operations, collisions with construction and maintenance vessels, and electromagnetic fields generated by submarine power cables (OSPAR Commission, 2008b; Boehlert & Gill, 2010; Bergström et al., 2014; Lüdeke, 2018; Taormina et al., 2018; Perrow, 2019; Copping et al., 2020; Bennun et al., 2021). In addition, if mitigation measures are not taken, invasive alien species (IAS) may be introduced to offshore wind farms by construction and maintenance vessels and equipment, and the hard substrates provided by foundations can allow newly introduced species to become established or existing IAS populations to expand (Wilhelmsson & Malm, 2008; De Mesel et al, 2015; Geburzi & McCarthy, 2018; Iacarella et al., 2019; Coolen et al., 2020). In particular, OWE infrastructure can operate as stepping zones promoting the colonisation of hard-substratum species with pelagic larvae (Perrow, 2019).

Multiple offshore wind farms and their associated grids can lead to cumulative impacts on biodiversity, multiplying effects as well as compounding other anthropogenic pressures (King et al., 2015; Nogues et al., 2021). Bennun et al. (2021) note that the biodiversity most at risk from the pressures from OWE include birds (seabirds, migratory shorebirds and waterfowl), bats, marine mammals, marine turtles and fish, as well as a variety of offshore and coastal habitat types, such as sandbanks, coral reefs, seagrasses, mangroves, salt marshes, oyster beds and wetlands.

The location, design and type of technology used in an offshore wind farm and its associated grid infrastructure affects the impacts on biodiversity. For example, floating turbines will have less of a footprint on the seabed than bottom-fixed turbines, although mooring cables (especially nylon-containing catenary moorings) may increase the risks of marine mammal entanglement (Benjamins et al., 2014; Bennun et al., 2021). Meshed grids require less power cable than radial grids (Cole et al., 2014) and so are expected to have less environmental impact. Construction of gravity foundations does not involve pile driving like monopiles or jacket foundations and so is significantly less noisy (Hammar et al., 2008). On the other hand, gravity foundations involve higher impact from sediment dispersal due to dredging (Bergström et al., 2014). However, of the five types of offshore wind turbine structures currently in use (monopiles, gravity-based foundations, jacket, tripod and floating structures), the exact influence of the structure type on the degree to which species are attracted or repelled has not yet been quantified (Degraer et al., 2020).

While there are diverse pressures and impacts that can be placed on the marine environment during construction, operations and decommissioning of offshore wind farms, a wide range of mitigation measures have been developed that can reduce those impacts (see section 5.3).

# 3.2.2 Potential enhancement of biodiversity

Certain species can thrive around OWE installations and grids and, where any organisms increase rather than decrease in abundance, this is often termed a 'positive impact'. Offshore wind energy infrastructure, especially foundations, can act as artificial reefs or fish aggregation devices, introducing new hard substrate habitat in soft-bottomed seas (e.g., Wilhelmsson et al., 2006; Inger et al., 2009; Stenberg et al., 2015; Perrow, 2019; Degraer et al., 2020; Coolen et al., 2022). Underwater OWE structures and submarine power cables are usually colonised by hard-substrate benthic species including epifauna (e.g., bivalve molluscs, corals) and mobile macrofauna (e.g., worms, crustaceans). This reef effect can attract megafauna, such as decapod crustaceans and fishes (Reubens et al., 2014; Degraer et al., 2021) and a sessile macrofauna community rapidly colonises the new hard substrates created by OWE infrastructure, usually within a few months (Gutow et al., 2014). In turn, the exclusion of human activity, especially fishing, can lead to a reserve effect and further encourage aggregations of marine organisms (e.g., Bergström et al., 2013; Hammar et al., 2016). Some studies suggest that, in general, fish abundance is elevated inside offshore wind farms (Methratta & Dardick, 2019).

As well as the aggregations of marine organisms around offshore wind farms caused by the reef effect and reserve effect, additional efforts to enhance the habitats for native species, including nature-inclusive design and targeted restoration efforts can further encourage biodiversity in offshore wind farms. For example, nature-friendly scour protection or artificial habitats can increase the abundance of taxa such as fish, crabs, oysters and lobsters (Glarou et al., 2020; The Rich North Sea, 2023; Wageningen University & Research, 2023). See section 5.3 for more detailed descriptions of proactive conservation actions around OWE.

Although the diversity and abundance of certain species increases around offshore wind farms, this is the case for most human-made structures placed in the sea (see, e.g., Coolen & Jak, 2018); even plastic waste floating in the ocean provides new habitats for many coastal species (Haram et al., 2023). But artificial habitats alter species communities: the diversity and abundance of some taxa increase but other taxa decline, and the altered species assemblages no longer form a natural ecosystem. The macrofauna community around OWE is "impoverished relative to that expected on natural hard substrata in similar oceanographic conditions, with dominance of a few species", such as tube-building amphipods, anemones, hydroids, blue mussels and shrimps (Perrow, 2019). Similarly, fish aggregations around OWE are usually composed of species assemblages that differ from those in surrounding natural habitats (Bergström et al., 2013; Ashley et al., 2018; Degraer et al., 2020).

A review of 31 studies found a change in species assemblages at offshore infrastructure in comparison to naturally occurring habitats, with an increase in hard substrata associated species, especially benthic bivalves, crustaceans and reef associated fish, and a decrease in algae abundance, being the dominant trends (Ashley et al., 2018). The impacts witnessed on demersal fish close to offshore wind farm foundations include increased densities of piscivore species (cod, eel, shorthorn sculpin) and the reef-associated goldsinny wrasse, and an absence or reduction in their prey species (black goby, eelpout and shore crab) (Bergström et al., 2013). Flatfish have also been recorded at lower abundance near monopiles than in surrounding sandy bottomed habitats (van Hal et al., 2012). Fish communities around wind farms in the Baltic Sea were different to the surrounding seabed, with total fish abundance higher but species richness and diversity lower (Wilhelmsson et al., 2006). Species close to offshore wind farm foundations tend to be ones that favour rocky, hard substrate environments rather than sedimentary environments (Stenberg et al., 2015). The benthos is also different, with climax communities around offshore wind farms dominated by mussels and anemones (Degraer et al., 2020).

Overall, therefore, although offshore wind farms may cause a reef effect and an increase in the biomass of fish, crustaceans and benthic species, "the naturally occurring community has been altered" (Ashley et al., 2014), a situation found across European sea basins (Wilhelmsson et al., 2006; Bergström et al., 2013; Stenberg et al., 2015; Ashley et al., 2018; Degraer et al., 2020). Since the species assemblages occurring on OWE structures are different from surrounding habitats, and likely to remain different indefinitely, they will not be helping conserve natural ecosystems. Furthermore, as discussed above, IAS may be attracted to the infrastructure and become an integral part of the new species community, competing with and threatening native species and further altering the natural species assemblages. The change in species assemblages is not restricted to species underwater. Monitoring around the Horn Rev offshore wind farm in Denmark showed changes in seabird communities using the area, with species like gannet, common scoter and common guillemot less abundant than expected (Petersen et al., 2004) but gulls, terns and cormorants more numerous than expected (Kahlert et al., 2004).



Around some offshore wind farms, great cormorants (*Phalacrocorax carbo*) have been recorded in higher densities than before construction. The species is considered by BirdLife International (2021) to have a moderate risk of collision with offshore wind turbines.

© PJ Stephenson

Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas

#### 3.2.3 Potential impacts on MPAs

Most published studies on OWE impacts on nature were conducted outside of MPAs, and this review did not uncover any research into the relationship between MPA goals and colocated OWE. However, the potential effects of colocation can be extrapolated from known environmental impacts identified outside of MPAs, as well as a handful of case studies within MPAs.

Although some birds are attracted to offshore wind farms by the aggregations of fish or (in the case of cormorants and shags) to roost or dry their wings on the infrastructure, OWE can threaten birds at an individual level (Dierschke et al., 2016) and a population level (Thaxter et al., 2015; Masden & Cook, 2016), so offshore wind farms are unlikely to help seabird conservation (Hammar et al., 2016). Therefore, any MPAs protecting birds, such as SPAs under the Birds Directive, are likely to struggle in delivering their conservation goals if colocated with offshore wind farms. Even though colocating wind farms with MPAs is legally feasible in the UK under certain conditions, permission for a wind farm in the North Norfolk Coast SPA was refused because of the threats it posed to foraging Sandwich terns, one of the target bird species of the MPA (Christie et al., 2014). Similarly, two offshore wind farm proposals in the North Sea (one for 101 turbines off the coast of Callantsoog and another for 137 turbines near Zuid-Holland) were rejected by Dutch courts due to concerns for the impacts on a protected bird species, the great black-backed gull (Sanders et al., 2017).

Marine mammals (pinnipeds and cetaceans) are mostly impacted in the construction phase. The European Maritime Spatial Planning Platform (EC, 2023f,g) notes that "conflicts between offshore wind farming and area-based marine conservation mostly arise on account of noise disturbance and displacement". Although marine mammal activity can return to normal when construction is complete (Hammar et al., 2016), in some sites long-term impacts last for several years (Teilmann & Carstensen, 2012). Construction impacts are expected to be higher in pristine areas compared to areas where ambient noise is already high (Scheidat et al 2011; Bergstrom et al., 2014). This suggests that construction in areas with low ambient noise, such as would be expected in well-managed MPAs, may have a disproportionately negative impact on marine mammals (Sanders et al., 2017).

For MPAs conserving benthic assemblages of fish, crustaceans and other organisms, natural habitats or geological features, the impacts of OWE will depend on the sensitivity of the species, habitats or features and the estimated significance. However, given the species assemblages occurring on OWE structures are different from surrounding habitats, and likely to remain different indefinitely (see above), MPAs conserving natural ecosystems will be challenged by OWE. If Europe is to achieve its stated biodiversity goals it needs to focus efforts on protected areas "of very high biodiversity value or potential" (EU, 2020). If it is to contribute to global ambitions, it also needs to ensure European protected areas networks, including MPA networks, are ecologically representative and conserve areas of particular importance for biodiversity and ecosystem functions and services (CBD, 2022). In light of such ambitions, the alteration of naturally occurring species communities around offshore wind farms are unlikely to help deliver the goals of the European MPA network.

Invasive alien species are one of the biggest global threats to biodiversity (IPBES, 2019; UNEP, 2019). MPAs are expected to provide protection from IAS, with significantly lower IAS richness predicted from available data (Gallardo et al., 2017). Another study concluded that, although more data are needed on various taxonomic groups across different biogeographic regions, generally "alien species respond negatively to protection" and the density of most alien species was found to be greater outside MPAs than inside (Giakoumi & Pey, 2017). Since, as described above, the support vessels and the hard substrate foundations of offshore wind farms can attract IAS, colocating offshore wind farm in MPAs is likely to compromise the ability of MPAs to protect against IAS, as will other human activities. However, the relative threat from offshore wind farms of introducing IAS or providing stepping stones for their dispersal needs to be taken in the context of the broader array of artificial structures in the sea (see section 3.2.5) and the need for more robust knowledge of the mechanisms of IAS dispersal (Dannheim et al., 2020).

#### 3.2.4 Case studies of offshore wind farms in MPAs

A handful of case studies of offshore wind farms colocating with MPAs was identified (Table 1), although available data on the environmental consequences were inadequate to draw significant conclusions. The problem of knowledge gaps is also noted by government agencies involved; for example, the UK's Joint Nature Conservation Committee notes that, for the Outer Thames Estuary, there are no long-term condition monitoring data available "to determine whether the SPA is moving towards or has reached its conservation objectives" (JNCC, 2023a), and for Liverpool Bay no information is available to assess progress towards conservation objectives (JNCC, 2023b). The management plan for the German SPA Östliche Deutsche Bucht (BfN, 2020) notes that OWE can compromise the habitat connectivity important for the reefs in the MPA, but no data were uncovered to confirm if this connectivity has been maintained or not. This general lack of data from government agencies or the scientific literature may be due partly to the fact that many projects are relatively new, and partly due to inadequate data collection and data sharing.

Of the limited data available on OWE effects on MPAs, a key one was that offshore wind farms in England displaced red-throated divers (a Birds Directive Annex 1 species) from two MPAs (Liverpool Bay SPA and Outer Thames Estuary SPA), with no evidence divers ever habituated to offshore wind farms and returned to pre-construction densities (Allen et al., 2020). Given the red-throated diver was a qualifying species for both SPAs (and in Liverpool Bay additional seabird species are targeted for conservation; JNCC; 2023b), the colocated offshore wind farms must pose a significant threat to the birds and the MPAs' objectives. The avoidance of OWE by red-throated divers was also observed in Denmark, where divers were not recorded closer than 1,400 m from turbines (Kahlert et al., 2004), and in Germany, where divers were at lower-than-normal densities for more than 10 km from offshore wind farms (Heinänen et al., 2020; Vilela et al., 2020; Garthe et al., 2023). This underlines the fact that red-throated divers are one of the 19 seabird species most at risk of collision or displacement by OWE (BirdLife International, 2021) and one of the taxa most at risk from population-level impacts (Furness et al., 2013).

Harbour seals near the Scroby Sands offshore wind farm declined during the year of construction, and had not fully recovered by the end of the monitoring period reported (Nehls et al., 2019). The cause was reasoned to be the piling noise, although grey seals in the area increased annually, in spite of the construction (although short-term disturbance and displacement could not be discounted). Elsewhere, harbour seals have been displaced more than 25 km by piling (Russell et al., 2016).

Where negative impacts may be less significant in affecting conservation goals is when the target taxa are not birds or mammals. It is notable that most of the offshore wind farms that have been approved in British conservation sites and for which data were found are in MPAs with a focus on features such as subtidal mud and sand habitats, sea-pen and burrowing megafauna communities, and polychaete worm reefs (*Sabellaria spinulosa*) (Ashley et al., 2018). In these cases, the expected impact of the wind farm was determined by EIAs to be insignificant (less than 1% of the area of the target features). However, there is still a risk to conservation goals. For example, in the West of Walney Marine Conservation Zone, the goal of the MPA is for protected features such as sea pens to recover (Ashley et al., 2018). However, the loss of even small areas of these features could retard the recovery to a 'favourable' condition (Mazik and Smyth, 2013), thereby jeopardising the goal of the MPA. Some reports and monitoring data were found for the site on Marine Data Exchange (The Crown Estate, 2023) but no evidence was found to allow an assessment of whether or not the sea pens or reefs are recovering.

**Table 1.** A selection of case studies presented in the literature on the colocation of offshore wind farms with MPAs. IUCN management categories were reported only for the Firth of Forth SPA and Forth Islands SPA (which are category IV), the SPA Östliche Deutsche Bucht (Category IV) and Golfe du Lion (Category V) (UNEP-WCMC, 2023). Note that, in addition to colocation with wind farms, several cable connections and service vessels traverse MPAs (Defingou et al., 2019).

Country	Offshore Wind Farms	MPAs	Notes	Source
England	Walney, West of Dudden & Ormonde	West of Walney Marine Conservation Zone	Key features: Subtidal sand and subtidal mud; Sea pen and burrowing fauna communities. Helped "limit the total area that might otherwise be closed to fishing"; impact was in small % of MPA	Ashley et al., 2018
England	Lincs, Lynn and Inner Dowsing, Race Bank and Triton Knoll	Inner Dowsing, Race Bank and North Ridge Site of Community Importance	Key features: sandbanks; <i>Sabellaria spinulosa</i> (polychaete worm) reefs. Impact was in small % of MPA	Ashley et al., 2018; Defingou et al., 2019
England	North Hoyle, Burbo Bank, Rhyls Flats, Gwynt y Môr	Liverpool Bay SPA	Both SPAs used red-throated divers as qualifying features; for Outer Thames Estuary the species was the sole feature as it supports 38% of the	Allen et al., 2020; JNCC, 2023b
England	Scroby Sands, Kentish Flats 1 & 2, Gunfleet Sands 1 & 2, London Array 1	Outer Thames Estuary SPA	British population; for Liverpool, Bay, other seabird species are features. The offshore wind farms displaced red- throated divers which did not recover to pre-construction densities. Benthic communities in North Hoyle were not back to normal after 12 months. Harbour seals declined in Scroby Sands during construction and did not recover fully.	Allen et al., 2020; Percival, 2014; Nehls et al., 2019
France	Golfe du Lion (expected end of 2023)	Parc Naturel Marin Golfe du Lion	More than 1200 animal species and 500 plant species found in the MPA, including 8 of the 10 marine species protected nationally; the board of the park created a working group to ensure impacts were minimised but the effectiveness will only be measurable when the wind farm is completed	Defingou et al., 2019; WWF- France, 2019; Révolution Energétique, 2022; OFB, 2023
Germany	Butendiek	SPA Östliche Deutsche Bucht	Protects 19 species (14 birds, 2 fish and 3 mammals – grey and common seal and common porpoise) listed in Nature Directives and 2 habitat types (sandbanks and reefs) under the Habitats Directive.	Defingou et al., 2019; EEA, 2019; Butendiek, 2023
Scotland	Neart na Gaoithe, Inch Cape, Seagreen Alpha and Bravo	Firth of Forth Ramsar site, Firth of Forth SPA, Forth Islands SPA, Firth of Tay and Eden Estuary SPA	The opposition to the consent was based on the potential impacts on bird species of concern (e.g., kittiwake, gannet, puffin) associated with the SPAs but this was ultimately rejected; additional wind farms are planned for the area	EC, 2023g (MSP Platform Conflict Fiche 8); RSPB

#### 3.2.5 The environmental impacts of offshore wind energy in perspective

(2018).

There are numerous and widespread human pressures on marine ecosystems in Europe (Korpinen et al., 2021). The data available on relative and cumulative impacts suggest that OWE is likely to have lower levels of anthropogenic impacts on many species and habitats than other maritime activities, such as fishing, dredging, shipping, oil and gas exploitation and recreation (Mazaris et al., 2019; Hammar et al., 2020; Starmore et al., 2020). For example, one review found recreational activities and fishing to be the main threats affecting European MPAs (Mazaris et al., 2019). Globally, fishing has had the largest relative impact on marine ecosystems (IPBES, 2019). Furthermore, the environmental impacts of OWE are discrete in space and time, whereas the impacts of certain fishing techniques such as bottom trawling can be much longer lasting and devastating (Inger et al., 2009; Sanders et al., 2017). Compared to other industries, the construction and operation of offshore wind farms is relatively well studied and lessons learned in Europe show that efficient mitigation measures "have been highly successful in reducing adverse effects on marine wildlife" (WWF-France, 2019).

10°E 6°E 8°E Figure 1. Locations of wrecks (black dots), oil and gas installations (blue 60°! dots) and wind farms (red dots) in the North Sea. Reproduced with permission from Coolen & Jak 58 56 United Kingdom 52°N Germany Belaium

The threat from alien invasive species is a good example of the relative impact of OWE. As explained above, OWE infrastructure provides hard substrate habitats that are colonised by many species, including IAS. Coolen & Jak (2018) noted that, while many hard substrate habitats like oyster reefs have declined in the North Sea in the last century, human-made hard substrates have increased. This not only includes offshore wind turbines, foundations and associated grids but also ship wrecks and oil and gas installations (which, as they exploit fossil fuels, obviously have additional environmental impacts). All of these structures attract similar species assemblages (Zintzen et al., 2006; Bouma & Lengkeek, 2013; van der Stap et al., 2016). However, as demonstrated by Figure 1, there are fewer artificial hard substrate habitats created by OWE than by other shipwrecks or oil and gas installations (Coolen & Jak, 2018). While these data are now a few years old, they demonstrate that the pressure of IAS on marine ecosystems caused by OWE, especially in the heavily exploited North Sea, is likely to be less significant than that caused by other types of structures, at least in the near future. Of course, any threat to the marine environment in the North Sea and elsewhere needs to be avoided, especially in areas of conservation importance such as MPAs, and being less of a threat than other causes does not provide justification for placing infrastructure in MPAs. But this study does suggest

that OWE sited to avoid sensitive areas may add a relatively small increment to the artificial substrates present in this sea basin.

As discussed in section 3.2.1, the location, design and type of technology used in an offshore wind farm and its associated grid infrastructure will also affect the impacts on biodiversity. In addition, many of the environmental issues around OWE are specific to the site, species or sea basin concerned. The significance of any effect of OWE on nature will "vary depending on factors such as magnitude of effects, type, extent, duration, intensity, timing, probability, cumulative effects and the vulnerability of the habitats and species concerned" (EU, 2020). For example, the sensitivity of bird species to displacement or turbine collisions varies between species (BirdLife International, 2021); in some sites marine mammals have returned after construction of wind farms (Hammar et al., 2016), in others they have stayed away (Teilmann & Carstensen, 2012). While corals and seagrasses can take a long time to recover from disturbance (Gouezo et al., 2019; Morris et al., 2022), the microbenthic community in low species abundance/low density soft substrates like sandbanks can recover relatively quickly and without the loss of rare species (Coates et al., 2015; Li et al., 2023).

Sea basins are also different; compare the North Sea with the Mediterranean. In the North Sea, such as on the Dutch continental shelf, coastal waters have been heavily exploited and ecosystems degraded since the mid-1990s (Lindeboom, 1995). In such cases, if offshore wind is sited away from important biodiversity sites, the benefits caused through the reef effect may outweigh any negative effects, especially if complemented by nature-inclusive design and restoration activities. On the other hand, OWE developments are more likely to cause significant negative impacts to the more diverse, heterogeneous and threatened habitats of the Mediterranean. The Mediterranean has the highest proportion of threatened marine habitats (32%) in Europe (Gubbay et al., 2016). The particular complexity and fragility of Mediterranean habitats mean that, for example, any ecological benefits related to an increase of habitat heterogeneity linked to offshore wind farms, as described for northern European seas, would be absent in the Mediterranean, given it already has high habitat heterogeneity (Lloret et al., 2022). On the other hand, all the adverse effects described in the northern European seas could be magnified in the semi-closed Mediterranean with such high biodiversity and endemism (Lloret et al., 2022).

The variation in environmental impacts of OWE, and the relative impacts when compared with other threats, will need to be factored into MSP processes.

# **3.3 Current Status of Marine Protected Areas**

The current outlook for MPAs in Europe is bleak.

#### 3.3.1 MPA management plans

MPAs need comprehensive management plans that address all cumulative human stressors which impact biodiversity if they are to provide effective protection for species and habitats. However, a review found that 19 of the 23 marine EU Member States have no management plans, or hardly any management plans, in place for their MPAs (WWF EPO, 2019). This means that only 1.8% of the EU marine area is covered by MPAs with management plans, despite 12.4% of the EU marine area being designated for protection (WWF EPO, 2019). The European Environment Agency (EEA) notes that "EU Member State authorities and stakeholders could do more to meet the standards set out in EU guidance on management planning, such as setting conservation objectives and establishing conservation measures" (EEA, 2023). In addition to hampering effective conservation, the absence of management plans and defined management goals for many MPAs further complicates discussions on colocation with other maritime activities. For example, national policies in countries such as Belgium, France and the UK allow for offshore wind farms to be colocated with MPAs if conservation objectives are not affected significantly. This review was not able to identify any MPAs that explicitly focus on any marine life not affected in any way by OWE. However, since MPA plans are rare in Europe, it is not easy to assess how many European MPAs may have conservation goals compatible with OWE. The use of IUCN management categories is also rather ad hoc, meaning that, for many MPAs, the level of protection afforded to them, or the level of sustainable use permitted, is unclear. For example, only four of the ten MPAs in the case studies shown in Table 1 had a confirmed IUCN category assigned to them. Defining MPA objectives and management categories, and developing management plans, is therefore a priority for helping define more clearly what human activities should be allowed and what they might impact.

# 3.3.2 Effectiveness of MPAs

The density, biomass, body size and diversity of most marine life has been shown to be greater inside MPAs than outside (Halpern, 2003). For example, effective MPAs have been found to provide refuges for fish, housing twice as many large fish species, five times more large fish biomass, and fourteen times more shark biomass than fished areas (Edgar et al., 2014). There are several factors influencing the effectiveness of MPAs in conserving biodiversity. One global review found that staff and budget capacity were the strongest predictors of conservation impact: MPAs with adequate staff capacity had ecological effects 2.9 times greater than MPAs with inadequate capacity (Gill et al., 2017). In another global review of 87 MPAs, Edgar et al. (2014) found that conservation benefits increase exponentially with the accumulation of five key features: no offtake, good enforcement, old age (more than 10 years) large size (more than 100 km<sup>2</sup>), and isolated by deep water or sand. Many European MPAs fail to meet these criteria. The majority of European MPAs are designed to be partially protected MPAs, which are divided into zones allowing extractive activities to occur to differing degrees, often including bottom-trawling (WWF EPO, 2019, 2022a).

Approximately 89% of the marine Natura 2000 area and 85% of the national designated sites area are found within sites that are less than 100 km<sup>2</sup> (EEA, 2015b). It is not possible to quantitatively assess whether EU MPAs are no-take areas or not, as no harmonised, easily accessible data are available (EEA, 2015a)<sup>6</sup>. However, in 2012, it was estimated that 74 no-take reserves existed in the waters of 16 European countries, covering less than 1,000 km<sup>2</sup> in total, or less than 0.5% of the area covered by the European MPAs (Fenberg et al., 2012). This suggests the ambition to attain 10% strict protection (EC, 2020a) is not likely to be met.

"Governments have markedly underinvested in protected areas and OECMs and been weak in legally protecting them" (Maxwell et al., 2020). Although it is not possible to assess the level of enforcement quantitatively due to lack of data (EEA, 2015a), there is a lot of evidence of weak protection. Many MPAs are 'paper parks', with limited enforcement of the controls on exploitation activities that are necessary to meet conservation objectives (EEA, 2015a). For example, in general, "Natura 2000 sites are not closed for commercial fisheries, or only partly so" (EEA, 2015a). A study in Sweden found only 3 out of 56 MPAs (5%) prohibited fishing (Grip & Blomqvist, 2020). Across the UK, MPAs are generally considered multi-use sites and there is very little active management or enforcement of regulations and controls (Clark et al., 2017; Solandt, 2018).

The lack of protection comes in spite of the public in many European countries, including Estonia, the Netherlands, Norway and the UK, valuing and supporting offshore nature conservation and MPAs (e.g., Börger et al., 2014; Aanesen et al., 2015; Brouwer et al., 2016; Karlõševa et al., 2016). The EEA notes that "existing management effectiveness standards are insufficiently known and understood among practitioners" and "Member States could better use EU funding to fill the investment gap on Natura 2000 management effectiveness by setting out prioritised action frameworks" (EEA, 2023).

# 3.3.3 Integrating MPAs into maritime spatial planning

Although maritime spatial planning should include all uses of the ocean, in reality, "MSP and MPA designation are often taking place in parallel to each other, with relatively little integration between

Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Protected Seas Navigator database on MPAs and their regulations (<u>https://protectedseas.net/mpa-mapping</u>) and the Marine Protection Atlas (<u>https://mpatlas.org/</u>) now provide a potential means of conducting a new analysis in the future.

them", as seen in European countries like Germany and the UK (Trouillet & Jay, 2021). Uncoordinated planning of wind farms and MPAs in Belgium, exacerbated by inadequate stakeholder engagement, caused significant problems and led to the degazettement of the MPA (Pecceu et al., 2016). The obvious risk is that a lack of integrated MSP will lead to MPAs being designated in sites already allocated for wind farm development, resulting in inadvertent colocation, or more MPAs being declassified due to OWE developments.

The EU Maritime Spatial Planning Directive states that "maritime spatial planning should apply an ecosystem-based approach" (EU, 2014), which has been defined by the CBD as "a strategy for the integrated management of land, water, and living resources that promotes conservation and sustainable use in an equitable way" (CBD SBSTTA, 2000). The United Nations, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, and the Baltic Marine Environment Protection Commission (HELCOM) have also all dedicated special efforts to engage and further operationalise the ecosystem-based approach (Stephenson, 2022). However, a review of 12 European case studies demonstrated that the approach is inadequately implemented (Domínguez-Tejo et al., 2016), a finding supported by a recent BirdLife International review of marine spatial plans in four countries (BirdLife International, 2022). Relevant features of the ecosystem-based approach rarely applied include the standardisation of pressures from human activities, the integration of frameworks to assess ecosystem services, and the implementation of precautionary and adaptive management approaches (Domínguez-Tejo et al., 2016). Important knowledge gaps were also highlighted, especially in relation to the assessment of social values and social connections to the marine environment.

Since nature continues to decline, there is a risk we continue to set conservation ambitions against already reduced levels and inappropriate baselines (Papworth et al., 2009; Soga & Gaston, 2018), a phenomenon called shifting baseline syndrome (Pauly, 1995). Therefore, in planning for conservation and sustainable use of the oceans, governments need to ensure that they maintain the level of ambition laid out in the EU Biodiversity Strategy and in line with the Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework.

# 3.4 Mitigating Impacts When Offshore Winds Farms Are Colocated With MPAs

Given that some countries, such as Belgium, France, Germany, Greece and the UK, allow colocation of OWE and MPAs in at least some circumstances, and given the disconnect between MPA designation and broader MSP processes, it is inevitable that some offshore wind farms will continue to be colocated in MPAs and OECMs. As discussed, this review found inadequate data on the impacts of offshore wind farms already colocated within MPAs. However, what we already know about potential environmental impacts and mitigation measures needs to inform the approaches to be taken when colocation occurs.

Traditionally, companies across sectors have used the Mitigation Hierarchy as a tool to help limit their negative impacts on biodiversity by considering four actions (avoid, minimise, restore, offset) in setting no-net-loss or net-gain targets (Ekstrom et al., 2015). According to a review across seven European countries, many ElA reports conclude that positive impacts of OWE are greater than negative impacts and "there should be no significant negative residual impacts and hence no need of offsets" (Vaissière et al., 2014). However, residual impacts can be difficult to predict, particularly before but also during early project construction and operations, especially in data-poor regions and many offshore environments (Bennun et al., 2021). As a result, the Mitigation Hierarchy and the use of offsets are often inadequate in the OWE sector, with some offsets proposed onshore for offshore impacts, raising issues of equivalency (Vaissière et al., 2014). Given that restoration and offsetting are often complex, costly, small-scale, difficult to measure and with unpredictable success rates (Bennun et al., 2021; Stephenson & Walls, 2022), as the OWE sector considers colocation and enhancing nature, more emphasis should be placed on the avoid and minimise steps and, in such instances where OWE is colocated with MPAs, mitigation measures will need to be maximised and applied thoroughly.

According to IUCN guidelines (Bennun et al., 2021), key avoidance and minimisation measures for the construction and operation phases include the implementation of physical controls (modifying the physical design of project infrastructure to reduce operation-related impacts, such as bird collisions), operational controls (involving managing and regulating contractor activity and movement during construction and maintenance) and abatement controls (involving taking action to reduce, for example, emissions, noise and pollutants). Similar controls will be required during the repowering<sup>7</sup> or decommissioning phase of a wind farm. It will be essential throughout to select construction methods and implement construction protocols that reduce environmental impacts, especially for sensitive species and for the species and habitats that are the focus of the MPA's objectives. It is also recommended that offshore seabed disturbance should be restricted to the minimum area required for installation of a foundation, or for cable laying. OWE developments, particularly where components are located in degraded coastal or sea areas such as heavily-trawled areas, are also encouraged to take further steps to enhance the habitat on site to create benefits for biodiversity (Bennun et al., 2021)

In such cases of colocation, however, even with mitigation and restoration measures, some degree of disturbance to the MPA ecosystem is inevitable; at the very least, species assemblages are likely to differ from the natural, undisturbed state and the most sensitive species will be displaced (see section 3.2).

# 3.5 Knowledge Gaps

Several pressures and impacts of OWE on biodiversity remain poorly understood, as do some strategies to mitigate and monitor impacts. Also, most current publications are derived from studies conducted at localised scales, such as in shallow waters, close to the coast, with few turbines, low production capacity, and occupying a small area (Galparsoro et al., 2022). More data are needed on the impacts of larger wind farms in deeper waters further offshore.

A range of studies and reports (e.g., Bergström et al., 2014; Copping et al., 2020; Taormina et al., 2018; Abhinav et al., 2020; Dannheim et al., 2020; BirdLife International, 2021; Stephenson, 2021; Watson et al., 2023) have identified a diverse set of priorities for further research to fill our knowledge gaps, including (but not limited to):

- the collision risk of bats offshore;
- the entanglement risk of marine mammals and bird with mooring lines and cables;
- the adverse effects of OWE and submarine power cables on marine turtles;
- understanding how prey distribution and density affects marine mammal use of OWE sites;
- the impacts on marine organisms of electromagnetic fields (especially from submarine power cables), including data on sensitivity thresholds and tolerance for a larger number of taxa;
- the barrier effects on birds and the use and effectiveness of corridors created within and between wind farms
- levels and impacts of pollution such as oil spills from vessels involved in construction, maintenance and decommissioning of OWE;
- hydrodynamic changes possibly resulting in altered primary production and potential consequences for filter feeders;
- the introduction and range expansion of IAS (through stepping stone effects);
- noise and vibration effects on benthic organisms;
- cumulative impacts and long-term effects on the food web;
- combined effects with other human activities, such as fisheries;
- the most nature-positive way of decommissioning OWE infrastructure (including assessment of the impacts of contaminants impacts, defining risk and acceptability thresholds in policy

<sup>7</sup>Repowering is replacing units with newer, higher capacity turbines or retrofitting them with more efficient components. Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas and governance and quantification of impacts to ecosystem services) and if, and how best, to restore sites;

- the potential for new techniques to be integrated into OWE monitoring systems, especially
  environmental DNA techniques for assessing species diversity and relative abundance, baited
  remote underwater video for fish and possibly crustaceans, light traps for benthic
  invertebrates, acoustic soundscapes for fish and crustaceans, and the systematic monitoring
  of ship hulls for invasive alien species
- the factors affecting the success of impact mitigation measures and restoration opportunities
- the technical and economic viability of different colocation scenarios and multi-use systems involving OWE, including comparative assessments of diverse economic activities.

If we are to understand fully the environmental repercussions of continued expansion of OWE, and the best means of mitigating impacts, these gaps need to be filled. As well as targeted research, monitoring needs to be improved in and around offshore wind farms (see Stephenson, 2021 for review, and section 5.4).

This review found only a small number of concrete examples (Table 1) in the literature of OWE/MPA colocation. Case studies that do exist do not provide adequate data or consistent results to draw conclusions from. Many of the offshore wind farms built within MPAs are relatively recent developments so data are not yet long-term, but more data should be available. Certain assumptions were made when the developments were approved about the insignificant impact expected on species and habitats. Data from the monitoring of these wind farms need to be collected and shared to provide stronger evidence of the impacts and of the validity of the assumptions made in their approval.



#### © PJ Stephenson

Sea ducks such as common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) are considered to be at high risk from OWE developments and are a priority for further research (BirdLife International, 2021).

The Precautionary Principle (sometimes known as the Precautionary Approach) has been adopted by the CBD (2010) and is already enshrined in EU policy in the Habitats Directive (EC, 1992), the EU Marine Strategy Framework (EU, 2008), and the EU Maritime Spatial Planning Framework (EU, 2014). The approach has also been adopted in principle by several European countries (e.g., DECC, 2016). For OWE, RGI (2019) and its partners have noted that "marine spatial planning for grid activities shall be based on best available science and mapping data, and a precautionary approach where data is missing". However, there is evidence the Precautionary Principle is not being applied consistently in European marine spatial planning (Domínguez-Tejo et al., 2016). The sooner the full impacts and cumulative impacts of OWE can be understood, the more decisions can be taken based on data, reducing reliance on the Precautionary Principle (Stephenson, 2022).

# 4. Offshore Wind Energy and Other Maritime Activities

In addition to renewable energy production and the conservation of species and habitats, the EU Maritime Spatial Planning Framework (EU, 2014) identifies several other activities and uses to consider in marine areas, including: aquaculture areas; fishing areas; installations and infrastructures for the exploration, exploitation and extraction of oil, gas, minerals and aggregates; raw material extraction areas; maritime transport routes and traffic flows; military training areas; scientific research; submarine cable and pipeline routes; tourism; and underwater cultural heritage.

European seas are heavily exploited. The EU is the sixth-largest producer of fishery and aquaculture products, and nearly 80% of global shipping (by volume) and over 90% of installed offshore wind capacity occurs in EU seas (EC Directorate-General for Maritime Affairs and Fisheries, 2022). With such high shipping densities and vast fishing operations, it is increasingly important for Member States and their neighbours to incentivise the colocation of human activities. The idea that space can only be occupied by a single activity in a given area has contributed to EU delays in delivering on its nature conservation commitments, as this approach leaves little room to expand MPAs and areas for renewable energy production (WWF EPO, 2022c).

The EU Strategy to Harness the Potential of Offshore Renewable Energy (EC, 2020b) encourages the coexistence of renewable energy with activities such as fisheries, aquaculture, shipping and tourism, especially "in crowded areas". While ultimately, a more detailed review of the relationship between OWE and each of these activities is required, below is a summary of some of the key issues.

# 4.1 Colocating Offshore Wind Energy with Fisheries and Aquaculture

## 4.1.1 Fisheries

Several species of fish and crustacean of importance to European fisheries (e.g., Atlantic cod, pollock, brown crab, European lobster) have been recorded in increased densities around offshore wind farms (Langhamer & Wilhelmsson, 2009; Bergström et al., 2013; Ashley et al., 2014; Hooper & Austen, 2014; Hooper et al., 2018; Perrow, 2019). The EU Biodiversity Strategy (EC, 2020a) highlights the fact that offshore wind "allows for fish stock regeneration" which implicitly encourages the use of offshore wind farms as areas for conserving fisheries. However, in most European countries, active fishing is prohibited in offshore wind farms (EC, 2023h). This is largely due to the practical safety issues around operating boats and fishing gear among turbines, and the need to protect the foundations and submarine power cables. This has caused concerns about the fisheries lost to offshore wind farms. For example, in the German Exclusive Economic Zone of the North Sea, a significant proportion of gillnet landings of plaice overlap with OWE areas, suggesting the gillnet fishery could lose up to 50% of its landings when offshore wind farms are closed for fisheries (Stelzenmüller et al., 2016). The types of fishing and the types of fishing gear that are able to operate within offshore wind farms will influence the distribution of both industries. However, optimising sea space for nature recovery and climate is vital for sustainable fisheries and must be at the forefront of colocation discussions (RSPB, 2022).

Brown crabs associate with turbine foundations which may therefore serve as nurseries (Hooper & Austen, 2014) and there has been some success with lobster fisheries around some Ørsted offshore wind farms (Get Nature Positive 2023). Other successful multi-use pilot projects with offshore renewable energy and fishers include examples of cooperation in the Baltic Sea which helped define corridors for cables and pipelines that minimised the crossing of the underwater infrastructure by fishers (BalticLINes Interreg project) and fishermen working part-time for offshore wind farms in Germany and Denmark (EC, 2020b).

However, several obstacles remain that hinder the colocation of fisheries and OWE, including legal issues, implementation of safety regulations, delineation of minimum requirements for fishing

vessels (such as capacities, quotas, technical equipment), implementation of a licensing process, issues around insurance and scoping for financial subsidies (Christie et al., 2014; Stelzenmüller et al., 2016). There is also often a lack of trust and collaboration between the different sectors (Hooper et al., 2018). Even if it is legally permitted, many people in the fishing industry would avoid fishing within an offshore wind farm because of worries over many of these issues, especially safety (Christie et al., 2014). Changes in risk perceptions are likely to lead to a reduction in spatial restrictions for fisheries around offshore wind farms in future (EC, 2023h) and there is evidence that is already happening. For example, in the German EEZ of the North Sea, as a result of lobbying from the fishing sector, passive gear fisheries such as brown crab are being considered within 300 m of the offshore wind farm (Stelzenmüller et al., 2021).

Potential for fisheries to colocate with OWE is site specific and depends on environmental conditions, wind farm design and the risk perception of fishers and developers (Hooper et al., 2018). The potential for colocation is also specific to different fisheries; for example, there is evidence that spillover effects from offshore wind farms may favour fishing of various whitefish species like cod but flatfish are less abundant and so not suitable to fish (Hooper at al., 2018). Furthermore, colocation opportunities are linked to distance offshore, with more opportunities for colocation of OWE and fisheries in areas up to 100 km offshore and with water depths above 120 m (Gusatu et al., 2020). Successful colocation will doubtless depend on more meaningful inclusion of fisheries representatives in planning and decision-making around offshore wind farm planning processes and more effort to assess the effects of offshore wind farms on fish species is also needed to inform the debate and the options. For example, it is still unclear if increases in some fish species around offshore wind farms is simply an aggregation or a genuine increase in biomass (Hooper et al., 2018).

In conclusion, the main scope for colocation of fisheries within offshore wind farms is probably passive fisheries, such as the use of crab and lobster pots. However, other fisheries may be exploited outside and near the wind farms to benefit from potential spillover effects. There is also a certain amount of interest in recreational fishing around OWE, with some successful examples (e.g., Fayram & De Risi, 2007; Kafas, 2017; Hooper et al., 2017; Ten Brink & Dalton, 2018; EC, 2023h). As well as passive commercial fisheries, more efforts could therefore be made to explore the options for viable recreational fisheries around offshore wind farms.

# 4.1.2 Aquaculture and mariculture

Aquaculture and OWE could be synergetic sectors (UN, 2021). Research and pilot projects have tested the feasibility and viability of aquaculture or mariculture in or alongside offshore wind farms, mostly focusing on bivalve molluscs (mussels and oysters), decapod crustaceans (such as crabs and lobsters) and seaweed (e.g., Gimpel et al., 2015; Buck et al., 2017; Di Tullio et al., 2018; Demmer et al., 2022). For example, the EU MERMAID project identified environmental benefits from different combinations of aquaculture and offshore renewable energy systems, resulting in pilot projects in Belgium, France, Germany, The Netherlands, Portugal and Spain, on molluscs, algae and multi-use offshore platforms (EC, 2020b). The EU is now funding pilot projects to further advance the understanding of colocation options. These projects include the ULTFARMS project for mussel and seaweed aquaculture and habitat restoration in four countries in the North Sea and Baltic Sea (ULTFARMS, 2023), the OLAMUR project in Denmark, Estonia and Germany where seaweed and blue mussels will be grown within windfarms or in the vicinity of a trout farm (EC, 2023k), and the Ghent University UNITED project (Ghent University, 2023) looking at flat oysters and seaweed in Belgium. These are promising developments, although only Portugal has expressly incentivised colocation of OWE and aquaculture (WWF EPO, 2022c). One factor affecting success, as demonstrated by pilot with mussels in the North Hoyle offshore wind farm in the Irish Sea, is clear agreement and protocols between the stakeholders (Hooper et al., 2018). This includes addressing food safety. For example, public standards, the Food Safety System Certification 22000

standard, and the Marine Stewardship Council/Aquaculture Stewardship Council standards have been proposed for seaweed farming in offshore wind farms (Banach et al., 2020).

An assessment in East Asia (Tullberg et al., 2022) suggested the colocation of finfish aquaculture and seaweed farming with OWE shows the greatest synergistic benefits for marine space usage, decarbonisation, and nutrient management, but queries were raised about the economic viability of the enterprise. If seaweed is considered, its combination with higher value aquaculture products may be required to improve economic viability (Tullberg et al., 2022). In the UK, bivalve mollusc aquaculture is seen as the most feasible colocation option, especially as relevant structures could be attached to OWE infrastructure, and some maintenance and monitoring services could be shared between the two sectors (Hooper et al., 2018). An estimated cost reduction of about 10% is feasible if the offshore wind and offshore aquaculture sectors shared operation and maintenance costs (Röckmann et al., 2017). The precise economic value associated with these benefits of collaboration and colocation depend on the scale, location, and nature of the offshore wind farm and the aquaculture and the natural resources they affect (Kite-Powell, 2017).

Overall, the economic value of colocated fisheries and aquaculture to the fishing industry is not clear or cannot yet be validated (Hooper et al., 2018; van Hoey et al., 2021) but will need to be if colocation is to work. New integrated multi-trophic aquaculture approaches should also be explored, as they offer opportunities to diversify cultured species, and to add taxa such as sea cucumbers, while improving income and the environment (Grosso et al., 2021; Cutajar et al., 2022).



© PJ Stephenson

European seas and coasts are subject to a diverse array of human uses and activities.

# 4.2 Colocating Offshore Wind Energy with Other Renewable Energy Infrastructure

There have been several studies into the feasibility of combining offshore wind and wave energy (Hosseinzadeh et al., 2023) and a number of European sites have been identified as potentially suitable (e.g., Vasileiou et al., 2017; Weiss et al., 2018; Azzellino et al., 2019). However, there is no common agreement on all the necessary site selection criteria to optimise colocation (Hosseinzadeh et al., 2023).

Solar panels offer another opportunity for colocating renewable energy generation technologies. Integrating floating photovoltaics into offshore wind farms will increase power conversion efficiency (Li et al., 2023). However, some of the environmental impacts are poorly understood. More research is needed regarding the interactions of floating solar energy with aquatic habitats and species, especially those dependent on solar radiation, such as corals, seagrass and kelp forests (UN, 2021), and on the effects of shading on water evaporation and on water chemistry, including nitrification and deoxygenation (Exley et al., 2021).

Overall, colocation of wave and solar energy with OWE has gained limited traction to date. Its further exploration and develop is likely to be in the context of multi-purpose platforms (see below).

# 4.3 Colocating Offshore Wind Energy with Maritime Transport Routes

Offshore wind farms pose a navigation and safety risk for shipping and vessel traffic is often prohibited or restricted (e.g., Tsai et al., 2021; EC, 2023i). In turn, accidents may pose a pollution risk to any colocated fisheries or aquaculture (Banach et al., 2020). However, the EU Strategy to Harness the Potential of Offshore Renewable Energy notes that "the development of energy infrastructures is not incompatible with shipping routes" (EC, 2020b) and, in some countries, shipping has been allowed to traverse offshore wind farms. In the Netherlands, for example, shipping is permitted through three offshore wind farms (Offshore Windpark Egmond aan Zee, Prinses Amalia Windpark and Luchterduinen); this has been enabled through the use of key regulations, such as limiting transit to daytime for ships up to 24 m length that have functioning and active VHF and AIS installations, and respect for a safety zone of 50 m around the turbines (EC, 2023i). Another way to facilitate colocation is to reduce OWE infrastructure in key shipping lanes. For example, cooperation between stakeholders in the Baltic Sea (through the BalticLINes Interreg project) helped define corridors for cables and pipelines that minimised the crossing of shipping lanes (EC, 2020b).

As turbines evolve and continue to increase in size, the space between them will also increase and could expand the scope for allowing passage of at least some maritime transport (Li et al., 2023). The introduction of multi-used zoning in offshore wind farms (see below) could also enhance colocation with shipping. However, it has already been shown that the ship traffic associated with offshore wind farm maintenance can affect biodiversity (e.g., Mendel et al., 2019; Bennun et al., 2021) and so any additional shipping should only be facilitated in areas where there are no sensitive species or habitats present.

# 4.4 Colocating Offshore Wind Energy with Tourism

There are sometimes concerns among local stakeholders about potential negative impacts of offshore wind farms on tourism in coastal waters (e.g., Gee, 2010; Rudolph, 2014), and opposition to wind farms often relates to the expected impact on business interests and tourism (Dimitropoulos & Kontoleon, 2009; Wolsink, 2010). However, research indicates that the overall impact on tourism is relatively benign, and sometimes positive (Westerberg et al., 2013; Glasson et al., 2022). Studies in Denmark and Sweden found no significant decrease in tourism or holiday rentals after the construction of offshore wind farms (Kuehn, 2005; Westerberg et al., 2013) and several studies across Europe found that, in general, the majority of people would not reduce their visits to an area due to the presence of wind turbines (Westerberg et al., 2013). Indeed, there is a growing body of work looking into the potential opportunities of tourism around OWE (see Lal et al., 2021 and Glasson et al., 2022 for recent reviews). As part of the MUSES Multi-Use in European Seas project, funded by the EU Horizon 2020, ten case study areas in the Atlantic, North Sea, Baltic Sea and Mediterranean Sea were identified to assess potential synergies and challenges for 16 of the most promising multi-uses combinations (EC, 2023j). Several opportunities were identified by the project for tourism and offshore wind farms (e.g., Varona et al., 2017a,b; Bocci et al., 2018).

A range of tourist attractions are possible based on offshore wind farms, including information centres, information boards, viewing platforms with telescopes, boat tours, sightseeing flights, routes for motorboats and sailing boats, offshore restaurants and merchandising products (Albrecht et al., 2015). In Bremerhaven, Germany, the local harbour tour bus (*hafenbus*) offered special "tour de wind" trips to see ports and explain wind energy infrastructure (Albrecht et al., 2015; Varona et al., 2017a; TripAdvisor, 2023). In Middelgrunden, Denmark, tourists can climb a tower on one of the turbines, as well as visit an offshore information centre and take boat tours (Varona et al., 2017b; Bocci et al., 2018). Coastal tourism activities may in some cases compete for space with fishing, but tourists are also an important source of demand for fish products, especially from small-scale coastal fleets (EC Directorate-General for Maritime Affairs and Fisheries, 2022). And, of course, recreational fishing in and around offshore wind farms could be an attraction for some tourists.

In the UK, the Scroby Sands offshore wind farm visitor centre received 30,000 visitors during its first six months of operation (BWEA, 2006). The first large-scale offshore wind farm in Southeast Asia (20 turbines in the Bangui Bay in the Philippines) is reported as having revitalised the province's local tourism industry by attracting visitors curious to see the turbines (Jimeno, 2007). A green image may, in turn, further facilitate increased destination loyalty or recommending behaviour (Chen & Tsai, 2007). Education opportunities could also be linked to offshore wind farm visits, with the possibility of engaging tourists and schoolchildren in discussions about climate change (Glasson et al., 2022).

Of course, there is always a chance that the interest in offshore wind turbines will fade as the novelty wears off and they are visible in more and more places. Nonetheless, there seems to be a lot of potential for using offshore wind farms as tourist attractions. Tourism ventures already demonstrating some degree of success should be explored more extensively across Europe, with relevant stakeholders, to identify possibilities to colocate activities in a mutually beneficial way. All of the ventures under consideration, though, will need to ensure they do not cause any additional environmental risks or impacts.

# 5. Conclusions and Recommendations

The human population has doubled in the last 50 years and the world is now experiencing a triple planetary crisis of climate change, biodiversity loss, and pollution (UNEP, 2021). Marine resources continue to be overexploited, and only 3% of the world's oceans are estimated to be free from human pressures (IPBES, 2019). Climate change impacts are increasing and leading to massive threats for many species as well as economic activities (IPCC, 2023). European countries have justifiably increased their commitments for the installation of renewable energy, and offshore wind energy is a vital tool to reducing carbon emissions and tackling climate change. We therefore need to ensure that a sector aimed at reducing one third of the planetary crisis (climate change) can also contribute to mitigating the other two thirds (biodiversity loss and pollution). This is even more important given the required speed and scale of the interventions needed to meet the commitments by European states to attain climate and energy security while at the same time improving the protection of marine ecosystems and the area under strict protection.

This review found that European MPAs are under intense pressure from a range of human activities and inadequately managed. Even though offshore wind farms appear to be less environmentally damaging than many other human uses of the ocean, colocation with MPAs risks impacting species and habitats, creating communities that differ from those found in natural habitats, and introducing alien invasives. This can consequently jeopardise the attainment of MPA goals. Several other maritime activities, especially passive fisheries, aquaculture, shipping and tourism, may be more compatible than MPAs for colocation with offshore wind farms.

Marine protected area networks and offshore wind farms will continue to expand across Europe in coming years to attain global and regional energy and biodiversity objectives. Based on the findings of this review, several preliminary recommendations can be made to help the diverse stakeholders involved in European MSP create the enabling conditions for the colocation of sustainable economic development activities without jeopardising the conservation of the marine ecosystems upon which, ultimately, most other activities depend.

# 5.1 Improving MPA Management and Protection

# Recommendation 1: Governments and their partners need to improve the management and protection of MPAs and better integrate MPAs into maritime spatial planning, minimising colocation with other activities.

Efforts need to be made to enhance the conservation outcomes of MPAs through appropriate investment, capacity building and enforcement of no-take zones. An increase in ocean protection not only conserves biodiversity but also boosts the yield of fisheries and secures marine carbon stocks (Vandeperre et al., 2011; Sala et al., 2021). Therefore, setting aside ocean space for MPAs may reduce the immediate revenue for some users, but in the long-term it has economic as well as an environmental benefits. As the EU biodiversity strategy highlights, "studies on marine systems estimate that every Euro invested in marine protected areas would generate a return of at least €319" (EU, 2020). It also quotes figures estimating that the benefits of Natura 2000 are valued at between €200-300 billion per year and likely to support as many as 500,000 additional jobs.

OECMs should be identified in inshore marine habitats to enhance the connectivity of area-based conservation efforts. European states need to clarify the designation process for OECMs and the feasibility and desirability of any offshore wind farms becoming OECMs needs to be explored and clarified to better inform European policy. Are there any conditions under which colocation might be possible? The most obvious option would be to consider offshore wind farms that have successfully enhanced nature or restored key habitats to become OECMs. This would need to be considered in the context of potential decommissioning plans, but might help ensure any benefit to nature gained in the offshore wind farm is not lost during repowering or when operations cease.

For Europe and the rest of the world to attain its biodiversity goals, MPAs and OECMs must contribute more effectively to preventing extinctions and retaining intact ecosystems (Maxwell et al., 2020). While prohibiting trawling, dredging, shipping and other potentially damaging maritime activities may require less enforcement in offshore wind farms than in MPAs due to the concerns of other ocean users about colliding with turbines or cables, building OWE infrastructure in MPAs should not be seen as a means of increasing protection, for all the risks outlined above and for adding stress to an already stressed environment. Therefore, in order to meet conservation and development goals, European states need to ensure that "the main priority of all MPAs is conservation of biodiversity, not economic opportunity" (WWF EPO, 2019). Given that there is "limited available evidence of OWE sites meeting ecological MPA requirements if preserving naturally occurring habitats is the main goal of MPA designation" (Ashley et al., 2014), "the potential for an MPA and a conventional offshore wind farm to work in synergy is limited" (Sanders et al., 2017). "The direct and indirect environmental impacts of energy installations and issues of protecting 'natural' habitats will limit the extent to which co-located sites can contribute to [MPA] network targets for protection" (Thurstan et al., 2018). OWE should therefore be avoided in MPAs and OECMs.

Regional and national policies sometimes allow for developments such as OWE in MPAs if the impacts are insignificant. There needs to be enhanced clarity and a more common understanding of the definition, interpretation and estimation of significance for any developments within an MPA or OECM. This clause should not be used as a means of undermining protection legislation and further degrading already threatened protected and conserved areas.



© PJ Stephenson

Fowlsheugh Nature Reserve in north-east Scotland is a coastal MPA established to maintain populations of breeding seabirds. It lies within 30 km of an offshore wind farm.

Relevant maritime spatial planning guidelines should be followed (e.g., Ehler & Douvere, 2009; Veidemane et al., 2017; UNESCO-IOC/European Commission, 2021), and the best available data used to inform decisions, especially on any types of colocation. "Permitting wind-farm developments for which the siting has been underpinned by solid strategic planning with careful and early

Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas

consideration of biodiversity will be much smoother than if biodiversity concerns in wind-farm projects are only addressed later in the process" (EU, 2020). Environmental concepts of relevance for the offshore wind energy sector include the ecosystem-based approach and the Precautionary Principle (Stephenson, 2022), and this review has highlighted the need for both to be applied more consistently. The ecological impacts of all aspects of development should be assessed through sensitivity mapping, EIAs and SEAs to identify which areas of the seabed are appropriate for sustainable development and to maximise colocation (RSPB, 2022). Socio-economic factors also need to be considered in both OWE and MPA planning (e.g., Pascual et al., 2016; Soukissian et al., 2016). These measures will help ensure offshore wind farm avoid important biodiversity areas and sensitive sites, especially those with slow recovering or highly sensitive species. These best practices will be easier to follow if there is a general move away from designating and managing MPAs separately from broader MSP, and fully integrating MPAs and OECMs into MSP.

# 5.2 Exploring Colocation with Other Maritime Activities

# Recommendation 2: Opportunities for the colocation of offshore wind energy with other maritime activities should be optimised through data-driven maritime spatial planning and by addressing key obstacles

The only solution to facilitate apparently conflicting uses of European seas is for participatory, science-based maritime spatial planning that optimizes colocation of certain objectives. Colocation of activities is an ambition and a necessity, especially in some of the busiest and most over-used areas of the ocean. Using some OWE sites for passive fishing, aquaculture, shipping, tourism (and maybe other forms of renewable energy), while minimising additional stresses on MPAs, could help improve the efficiency of human use of the marine environment and maximise the benefits to people and nature. Decisions for colocation will need to be made in the context of the best available scientific evidence and integrated MSP, and all colocated activities subjected to rigorous, standardised monitoring of their effectiveness and on their environmental impacts to inform adaptive management and future planning. Governments, companies and other stakeholders will need to be pragmatic and colocate activities where it does not jeopardise the conservation of marine ecosystems upon which, ultimately, most of the other activities depend.

While several maritime activities may be compatible with OWE in some instances, specific activities will require specific solutions to ensure effective colocation. A number of cross-cutting issues also need to be addressed.

#### a. Common definitions need to be agreed and adopted

Colocation needs to be clearly defined. In the context of MSP, it might be better to think of colocation as one of four different types of ocean multi-use (Table 2; Schupp et al., 2019). If the use of ocean space is to be maximised, all four options will need to be employed to ensure maritime activities can continue. For OWE, Type 1, Type 2 and Type 3 (where activities occur in the same place and the same time with different levels of shared infrastructure) should be explored in more depth.

For Type 1 (multi-purpose/multi-functional), the development of multi-use platforms may be the key (e.g., Abhinav et al., 2020; Aryai et al., 2021; Demmer et al 2022; Ramos et al., 2022; DNV, 2023). These specialised infrastructures have been developed to facilitate combinations of offshore wind with activities such as wave energy, aquaculture and desalination (Abhinav et al., 2020; Dalton et al., 2019), but few have yet come to fruition (DNV, 2023). For Type 2 (symbiotic use), where at least some services on land and at sea are shared, criteria will need to be agreed to identify viable sites and relevant benefit and cost-sharing agreements will need to be developed. Aquaculture, passive fisheries and tourism may all offer suitable test cases. For Type 3 (coexistence/colocation), where activities take place in the same place at the same time but without any shared infrastructure or services, the key will be to clarify the rights and responsibilities of different users, to define

cooperation and mediation mechanisms and build capacity within the relevant collaborating industries for colocation (Schupp et al., 2019).

 Table 2. Typology of ocean multi-use. Adapted from Schupp et al. (2019). Types are ordered by decreasing degree of connectivity between uses and users.

Туре	Description	Examples
1 Multipurpose/ multi-functional	Takes place in the same area, at the same time, with shared services and core infrastructure	Marine renewable energy and desalination
2 Symbiotic use	Takes place in the same area, at the same time, and peripheral infrastructure or services are shared	Aquaculture in offshore wind farms
3 Coexistence/ colocation	Takes place in the same area, at the same time	Fisheries in offshore wind farms
4 Subsequent use/repurposing	Takes place in the same ocean space but subsequently	Repurposing offshore structures for new uses (e.g., tourism, aquaculture, conservation)

## b. Stakeholder collaboration needs to be improved

The diverse regulatory, technical and socio-economic obstacles to colocation of activities in MSP need to be resolved, from legal issues to safety regulations to licensing and subsidies, and this will require active collaboration between all stakeholders (Stelzenmüller et al., 2016; Bocci et al., 2018; van den Burg et al., 2020; Steins et al., 2021). Any efforts to colocate activities in the ocean should include the relevant industry subsectors in MSP and consider colocation from the outset (Yates et al., 2015). The challenges should not be underestimated. For example, for North Sea fishing communities, maritime spatial planning holds risks as well as opportunities, depending on which institutions are formed and what role they are allowed to play in the planning process (Jentoft & Knol, 2014). An MPA in Belgium (the Vlakte van de Raan SAC) was declassified, partly because its original designation had not involved any local stakeholder engagement, as well as conflict over a potential wind farm (Pecceu et al., 2016). Communities of practice, to bring stakeholders together to share experiences and lessons, has proven useful in some cases to enhance dialogue and to tackle the wicked problem of MSP with diverse stakeholders (Steins et al., 2021).

#### c. Research needs to fill gaps in knowledge that block colocation

As well as finding ways of engaging stakeholders in appropriate and fruitful planning processes, more research will help unblock certain obstacles. For example, evaluating the impacts of colocation is highly complex because of the many potential socio-economic, technological and environmental interactions and much of the data required to inform those evaluations of colocation potential are unavailable (Thurstan et al., 2018). In particular, further research is needed into the ecological and socio-economic issues surrounding fishery co-location potential with OWE (Hooper & Austen, 2014). For aquaculture, the current paucity of experimental pilots to test technical and economic feasibility, in combination with the lack of clear licensing procedures and regulations, is inhibiting the development of aquaculture in offshore wind farms (Van Hoey et al., 2021).

The EU Strategy to Harness the Potential of Offshore Renewable Energy (EC, 2020b) notes that research and experimentation should be fostered to advance multi-use pilot projects and make the multi-use approach more operational and attractive to investors. This could be facilitated within regional cooperation fora. Several studies show that offshore wind farm developers are not intrinsically motivated to engage in multi-use, as it is not part of their core business and might increase their operating costs. (Van Hoey et al., 2021). Therefore, when economically viable multi-use systems within offshore wind farms have been developed, Member States could stimulate and enhance opportunities for co-location with incentives (e.g., criteria in tender procedures, area passports, clearer licensing procedures).

## Box 2. An example of multi-zoning in an offshore wind farm.

As part of its North Sea Policy Document 2016-2021, the government of the Netherlands (2015) decided on a system of multiple use of marine areas. This included opening up offshore wind farm to shared use with: mariculture (including shellfish and seaweed); other forms of sustainable energy generation and storage (including solar or tidal energy); nature enhancement projects (e.g., oyster recovery, shelters for fish, artificial reefs); and passive fishing (including using baskets for crabs and lobsters). A good example of this policy in action is the use of a zoning map (or Handreiking area passport; Fig. 2) which was drawn up for the Borssele wind energy area (*Windenergiegebied Borssele*). Based on area-specific characteristics, this map indicates where and which forms of shared use have the most favourable prospects and which can then be applied, subject to a permit being issued under the Dutch Water Act (Wind op zee, 2023). If we are to maximise the efficiency with which European seas are used, then more offshore wind farms will need to be developed with a consideration for multi-use zoning such as this.

**Figure 2.** Map showing zonation of maritime activities in the Borssele wind farm in the Netherlands. Pale blue areas - mariculture; Dark blue - passive fishing (e.g., lobster and crab pots); Yellow - other sustainable energy generation (e.g., solar, tidal); Green – nature support projects (e.g., oyster recovery, fish shelters, artificial reefs); Grey – to be determined. Source: Wind op zee (2023).



#### d. Pilots for multi-use zoning and multi-purpose platforms need to be expanded

Collaboration is key to successful MSP and the planning of any colocation activities (e.g., van den Burg et al., 2020; Steins et al., 2021; Glasson et al., 2022) and any attempt to colocate activities will likely need some adaptation of plans and systems from the different actors. OWE structures may need to be adapted by, for example, rerouting cables or spacing turbines to allow sufficient space for the colocated activity. Fisheries within an offshore wind farm will need to use gear that is compatible with the OWE infrastructure and grid. But these adaptations can also lead to greater collaboration on operations and monitoring.

Several studies have looked into criteria and indices for identifying potentially suitable sites for colocating maritime activities such as offshore wind farm and mussel farming (Benassai et al., 2014; Di Tullio et al., 2018) or assessing risks (e.g., van den Burg et al., 2020). Colocating activities in the context of MSP might benefit from the use of future-oriented planning approaches such as the development of alternative scenarios for stakeholders to deliberate on (see, e.g., Ehler & Douvere, 2009; McGowan et al., 2019). Any multi-use or colocation plans will also need to follow standard best practice in conducting EIAs and SEAs to avoid environmental impacts. More information also needs to be shared on good examples of multi-use planning in action. One such example can be found in the Netherlands (Box 2).

# 5.3 Reducing Impacts and Enhancing Biodiversity Around Offshore Wind Farms

# Recommendation 3: Best practices and innovations to reduce environmental impacts and enhance biodiversity around offshore wind farms need to be expanded

Mitigation and restoration work should minimise the changes in the natural ecosystem around all offshore wind farms. As per recommendation 2 and as explained in section 3.4, these measures will need to be applied even more extensively and rigorously in the instances where OWE is developed within an MPA, with a more specific focus on the species and habitats that are a focus of the MPA goals.

#### a. Mitigation measures to reduce impacts need to be enhanced around all offshore wind farms

Many of the known pressures on biodiversity from OWE can be addressed through a variety of mitigation strategies that either reduce the magnitude of the pressure or its impact on species and habitats. Examples include: bubble curtains, acoustic deterrents and the use of low-noise foundations that can mitigate the effects of pile driving noise on marine mammals (Dähne et al., 2017; Koschinski & Lüdemann, 2020; NER & DNV, 2021); minimising vessel traffic and other disturbance during times of day or seasons when sensitive species are feeding or breeding (Bennun et al., 2021); stopping construction when marine mammals are detected in the area by observers or passive acoustic monitoring devices (e.g., Sanders et al., 2017); shutdown on demand approaches that stop turbines when there is imminent risk of bird collisions (e.g., Tomé et al., 2017; Bennun et al., 2021); A comprehensive list of mitigation measures is presented by Bennun et al. (2021).

New innovations also need to be developed further and tested, ranging from painting turbine blades in colours that reduce birds strikes (May et al., 2020) to using muti-sensor arrays to improve monitoring (e.g., Lagerveld et al., 2020; Largey et al., 2021). All measures should be monitored to gauge their effectiveness. It should also be noted that not all impacts can be mitigated, and it may not be possible to avoid the displacement of sensitive species during construction.



© PJ Stephenson

Marine mammals such as dolphins and porpoises are primarily affected by the construction noise of offshore wind farm development. Mitigation measures to reduce impacts on marine mammals include use of bubble curtains and low-noise foundations.

# **b.** Actions to proactively promote nature need to be enhanced in and around all offshore wind farms

Efforts need to be scaled up to enhance nature in offshore wind farms, especially those in degraded areas. While the populations and habitats of some impacted taxa cannot be improved or restored (e.g., birds and bats displaced by construction or at risk of collision), certain marine species of fish and invertebrates can be enhanced. The efforts made by offshore energy companies and TSOs to work with governments, researchers and NGOs to apply appropriate nature-inclusive designs and restoration activities for relevant habitats and taxa need to be acknowledged, encouraged and continued, with monitoring and data sharing ensuring any failures are learned from and successes replicated.

Nature-inclusive design (NID) is a key concept for the OWE sector (Stephenson, 2022) and refers to options that can be integrated in, or added to, the design of an anthropogenic structure with the aim to enhance ecological functioning (Hermans et al., 2020). NID is increasingly being used to enhance the suitability of habitats on offshore wind structures for native species (e.g., Perkol-Finkel et al., 2018; Sella et al., 2022; Nordic Energy Research, 2023). Designs can be integrated into a wind turbine foundation, an offshore substation, a scour protection layer, or a cable protection measure (Hermans et al., 2020). Such designs offer many opportunities for offshore wind farm to enhance nature, including acting as catalysts for nature recovery (e.g.: monopiles form hard substrates for settlement of sea life; optimised scour protection and cable/pipeline protection to encourage biodiversity; artificial reefs can be established as they are safe from bottom-trawling), and as shelters for marine life (e.g.: resting platforms for seals; crevices for use by crustaceans; fish hotels and biohuts; standalone units acting as artificial reefs) (Steins et al., 2021; Nordic Energy Research, 2023). A large part of the footprint of an offshore wind farm is the scour protection, which often consists of rocks that are positioned on the seabed to prevent erosion. However, if designed appropriated, scour protection can act as artificial reefs, providing shelter, nursery, reproduction, and/or feeding opportunities (Glarou et al., 2020). Coolen et al. (2020) recommend adding as much rock dump or scour protection as possible in various sizes around OWE structures, to increase local habitat complexity and benefit epibenthic species that inhabit natural reefs.

The Government of the Netherlands tendering process requires offshore wind foundations to be built with nature-enhancing solutions (NER & DNV, 2021). NID also offers opportunities for the colocation of activities, by either contributing to food production through aquaculture or passive

fisheries, or acting as physical borders around conservation areas. However, the success of NID needs to be monitored to learn from experience and improve efficiency in future (DNV, 2023).

As well as designing and adapting the OWE infrastructure, offshore wind farm areas can be used to reintroduce native species and restore habitats. The Rich North Sea Programme, comanaged by Natuur & Milieu and Stichting De Noordzee (North Sea Foundation), has demonstrated success with using oyster tables to help restore oyster reefs in the Dutch North Sea and reintroduce flat oysters (The Rich North Sea, 2023). Other efforts have also showed promise using offshore wind farms to introduce oysters (e.g., Robertson et al., 2021).

The differences between NID and habitat or ecosystem restoration are sometimes confused, with some actors advocating NID as a way of, for example, restoring degraded habitats (Nordic Energy Research, 2023) or somehow allowing colocation with MPAs (DNV, 2023). While NID is about improving the composition of human structures added to marine nature, enhancing its environment beyond the intended function for human needs such as energy production, restoration is about recovering damaged natural ecosystems and so, by definition, is not NID (Stephenson, 2022).

Success in enhancing nature around offshore wind farms has implications for upgrading and decommissioning (Fowler et al., 2020). Species communities and habitats that develop on scour protection or as part of other efforts at NID or restoration should be considered in decommissioning decisions and in at least some cases left in place (Coolen & Jak, 2018). Depending on life cycles and species status (e.g., OSPAR protected or non-native), different leave-in-place options should be considered during decommissioning (e.g., leave the foundations as they are, remove part of the foundations to depths with limited risk of non-indigenous colonisation, or remove fully). As discussed above, these enhanced or restored areas within offshore wind farms may even provide opportunities to create OECMs. As suggested for the Mediterranean, "a beneficially placed offshore wind farm is one in a degraded area where the underwater structures could help restore the damaged ecosystem and increase biodiversity; it could then operate as an OECM" (Lloret et al., 2022).

# Recommendation 4: Where colocation of OWE with MPAs does occur, mitigation actions and proactive conservation efforts need to be optimised

Although this review concludes that siting offshore wind farms in MPAs and OECMs is risky and should be avoided, it will occur in some countries, whether by design (e.g., in MPAs of IUCN category IV to VI where conservation goals are not expected to be affected) or by uncoordinated planning. As described in section 3.4, in such instances, avoidance and minimisation measures will need to be maximised and applied thoroughly, and vigorous, proactive efforts made to protect and restore native species and habitats that are the focus of the MPA. Any restoration efforts will need to be as suitable, feasible and appropriate as possible, based on the goals of the MPA.

#### **5.4 Monitoring and Adaptive Management**

# Recommendation 5: Systematic monitoring, research and data sharing is required to track the state of marine species and habitats in both MPAs and in and around offshore wind farms to inform MSP and adaptive management and to fill key knowledge gaps

The availability of data and knowledge is key to the maritime spatial planning process (e.g., Trouillet & Jay, 2021) and "can improve the quality of MSP by instigating and structuring a participative process with cross-sectoral and cross-border learning" (van den Burg et al., 2023). Increased efforts are therefore needed to enhance the available evidence base. Standard methodologies to assess and quantify the contribution of OWE to nature are also needed. As per recommendation 2, research is needed to improve our understanding of the options and approaches, trade-offs and opportunities for colocating different maritime activities with OWE.

A more integrated approach for biodiversity monitoring around OWE is essential and will require a greater level of sectoral and regional collaboration, cooperation and open data sharing than currently exists (Stephenson, 2021). More data sharing is needed across sectors and seas and stakeholders. In many cases, different sectors need the same information. For example, data on bird movements and behaviour are essential for planning MPAs (Thaxter et al., 2012) as well in sensitivity mapping of OWE (Perrow, 2019). Long-lasting monitoring close to and away from wind farms, at the surface and near the bottom of the turbines, is required to gain a better understanding of how effects radiate outward from the wind turbine and how far (Li et al., 2023) as well as to provide evidence for adaptive management of pressure mitigation measures and nature enhancement work. Monitoring methods like environmental DNA (Mauffrey et al., 2021) and baited underwater video (Griffin et al., 2016) may have a higher chance of detecting species could be an alternative to the current time-consuming and costly routine biomonitoring.

To ensure MPAs deliver the best possible benefits for marine biodiversity, there is an ongoing need to better manage and monitor MPAs, to assess achievement of MPA goals and to share knowledge and experience of the response of European marine life to pressures and the results of protection measures (EEA, 2018). In addition, more open sharing and publication of monitoring data from sites where different activities have been colocated, as well as more analyses and interpretive reports focused on MPA goals, would not only help learn lessons about long-term impact and the validity of assumptions made, but also help inform eventual decision around repowering or decommissioning these wind farms.



© PJ Stephenson A Sandwich tern (*Thalasseus sandvicensis*) flying past a wind farm in the North Sea.

# 6. References Cited

- Aanesen, M., Armstrong, C., Czajkowski, M., Falk-Petersen, J., Hanley, N. and Navrud, S., 2015. Willingness to pay for unfamiliar public goods: preserving cold-water coral in Norway. *Ecological Economics*, 112, pp.53-67.
- Abhinav, K.A., Collu, M., Benjamins, S., Cai, H., Hughes, A., Jiang, B., Jude, S., Leithead, W., Lin, C., Liu, H. and Recalde-Camacho, L., 2020. Offshore multi-purpose platforms for a Blue Growth: A technological, environmental and socioeconomic review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 734, p.138256.
- Albrecht, C., Wagner, A. and Wesselmann, K., 2015. *The Impact of Offshore Wind Energy on Tourism: Good Practices and Perspectives for the South Baltic Region*. Stiftung Offshore-Windenergie, Berlin, Germany.
- Allen, S., Banks, A.N., Caldow, R.W., Frayling, T., Kershaw, M. and Rowell, H., 2020. Developments in understanding of redthroated diver responses to offshore wind farms in marine special protection areas. In *Marine Protected Areas* (pp. 573-586). Elsevier.
- Aryai, V., Abbassi, R., Abdussamie, N., Salehi, F., Garaniya, V., Asadnia, M., Baksh, A.A., Penesis, I., Karampour, H., Draper, S. and Magee, A., 2021. Reliability of multi-purpose offshore-facilities: Present status and future direction in Australia. *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, 148, pp.437-461.
- Ashley, M., Austen, M., Rodwell, L., and Mangi, S.C., 2018. Co-locating offshore wind farms and marine protected areas: A United Kingdom perspective. In *Offshore Energy and Marine Spatial Planning* (pp. 246-259). Routledge.
- Ashley, M.C., Mangi, S.C. and Rodwell, L.D., 2014. The potential of offshore windfarms to act as marine protected areas–A systematic review of current evidence. *Marine Policy*, 45, pp.301-309.
- Azzellino, A., Lanfredi, C., Riefolo, L., De Santis, V., Contestabile, P. and Vicinanza, D., 2019. Combined exploitation of offshore wind and wave energy in the Italian seas: a spatial planning approach. *Frontiers in Energy Research*, 7, p.42.
- Banach, J.L., van den Burg, S.W.K. and van der Fels-Klerx, H.J., 2020. Food safety during seaweed cultivation at offshore wind farms: An exploratory study in the North Sea. *Marine Policy*, 120, p.104082.
- Benassai, G., Mariani, P., Stenberg, C. and Christoffersen, M., 2014. A Sustainability Index of potential co-location of offshore wind farms and open water aquaculture. *Ocean & coastal Management*, 95, pp.213-218.
- Benjamins, S., Harnois, V., Smith, H.C.M., Johanning, L., Greenhill, L., Carter, C. and Wilson, B., 2014. Understanding the potential for marine megafauna entanglement risk from renewable marine energy developments. Scottish Natural Heritage Commissioned Report No. 791. Scottish Natural Heritage, Edinburgh, Scotland.
- Bennun, L., van Bochove, J., Ng, C., Fletcher, C., Wilson, D., Phair, N., and Carbone, G., 2021. *Mitigating Biodiversity Impacts Associated with Solar and Wind Energy Development. Guidelines for project developers.* IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and The Biodiversity Consultancy, Cambridge, UK.
- Bergström, L., Kautsky, L., Malm, T., Rosenberg, R., Wahlberg, M., Capetillo, N.Å. and Wilhelmsson, D., 2014. Effects of offshore wind farms on marine wildlife—a generalized impact assessment. *Environmental Research Letters*, 9(3), p.034012.
- Bergström, L., Sundqvist, F. and Bergström, U., 2013. Effects of an offshore wind farm on temporal and spatial patterns in the demersal fish community. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 485, pp.199-210.
- BfN, 2020. Managementplan für das Naturschutzgebeit "Sylter Aussenriff Östliche Deutsche Bucht" (MPSyl). Bundesamt für Naturschutz, Bonn, Germany.
- BirdLife International, 2021. Impact of Offshore Wind Development on Seabirds in The North Sea and Baltic Sea: Identification of data sources and at-risk species. BirdLife International Europe & Central Asia, Brussels, Belgium. <u>https://www.birdlife.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/birdlife\_offshore\_summary\_report\_digital-compressed.pdf</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- BirdLife International, 2022. Are EU Member State's Maritime Spatial Plans Fit for Nature and Climate? Technical Report Approach and Main Findings. June 2022. BirdLife International Europe & Central Asia, Brussels, Belgium.
- Bocci, M., Castellani, C., Ramieri, E., et al., 2018. *MUSES Project Case study Comparative Analysis. MUSES Deliverable 3.3*. Available at <u>https://maritime-spatial-planning.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/muses-wp3-d3.5-case-study-comparative-analysis\_20180510.pdf</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- Boehlert, G.W. and Gill, A.B., 2010. Environmental and ecological effects of ocean renewable energy development: a current synthesis. *Oceanography*, 23(2), pp.68-81.
- Börger, T., Hattam, C., Burdon, D., Atkins, J.P. and Austen, M.C., 2014. Valuing conservation benefits of an offshore marine protected area. *Ecological Economics*, 108, pp.229-241.
- Bouma, S. and Lengkeek, W., 2013. Benthic communities on hard substrates within the first Dutch offshore wind farm (OWEZ). *Nederlandse Faunistische Mededelingen*, 41, pp.59-67.
- Brouwer, R., Brouwer, S., Eleveld, M.A., Verbraak, M., Wagtendonk, A.J. and Van Der Woerd, H.J., 2016. Public willingness to pay for alternative management regimes of remote marine protected areas in the North Sea. *Marine Policy*, 68, pp.195-204.
- Buck, B.H., Krause, G., Pogoda, B., Grote, B., Wever, L., Goseberg, N., Schupp, M.F., Mochtak, A. and Czybulka, D., 2017. The German case study: pioneer projects of aquaculture-wind farm multi-uses. In *Aquaculture Perspective of Multi-Use Sites in the Open Ocean.* Springer International Publishing, pp. 253-354.
- Butendiek, 2023. Offshore Wind Farm Butendiek. Website <u>https://www.owp-butendiek.de/</u> accessed 9 March 2023. BWEA, 2006. British Wind Energy Association The Impact Of Wind Farms On The Tourist Industry In The UK. BWEA, London, UK.
- CBD, 2010. Decision Adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity at its Tenth Meeting. X/2. The Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Aichi Biodiversity Targets. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/X/2 29 October 2010.

- CBD, 2018. CBD Decision 14/8: Protected areas and other effective area-based conservation measures. Convention on Biological Diversity Conference of the Parties 14th meeting, Sharm El- Sheikh, Egypt, 17–29 November. https://www.cbd.int/doc/decisions/cop-14/cop-14-dec-08-en.pdf accessed 9 March 2023.
- CBD, 2022. Decision Adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity at its Fifteenth Meeting, Part II. Kunming-Montreal Global Biodiversity Framework. CBD/COP/DEC/15/4 19 December 2022.
- CBD SBSTTA, 2000. *Recommendation V/10 Ecosystem Approach: further conceptual elaboration*. Recommendations adopted by the SBSTTA fifth meeting, 31 January–4 February 2000, Montreal. Convention on Biological Diversity, Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice. Available from https://www.cbd.int/doc/recommendations/sbstta-05/full/sbstta-05-rec-en.pdf accessed 9 March 2023.
- Chen, C.F. and Tsai, D., 2007. How destination image and evaluative factors affect behavioral intentions? *Tourism Management*, 28(4), pp.1115-1122.
- Christie, N., Smyth, K., Barnes, R. and Elliott, M., 2014. Co-location of activities and designations: A means of solving or creating problems in marine spatial planning? *Marine Policy*, 43, pp.254-261.
- Clark, R., Humphreys, J., Solandt, J.L. and Weller, C., 2017. Dialectics of nature: The emergence of policy on the management of commercial fisheries in English European Marine Sites. *Marine Policy*, 78, pp.11-17.
- Coates, D.A., Van Hoey, G., Colson, L., Vincx, M. and Vanaverbeke, J., 2015. Rapid macrobenthic recovery after dredging activities in an offshore wind farm in the Belgian part of the North Sea. *Hydrobiologia*, 756, pp.3-18.
- Cole, S., Martinot, P., Rapoport, S., Papaefthymiou, G. and Gori, V., 2014. *Study of the Benefits of a Meshed Offshore Grid in Northern Seas Region.* Final Report to the European Commission, Directorate-General for Energy, Brussels, Belgium. https://energy.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2015-01/2014\_nsog\_report\_0.pdf
- Coolen, J.W.P. and Jak, R.G. (eds.), 2018. *RECON: Reef effect structures in the North Sea, islands or connections? Summary Report. Wageningen Marine Research Report C074/17A.* Wageningen Marine Research, Dan Helder, The Netherlands.
- Coolen, J.W., Van Der Weide, B., Cuperus, J., Blomberg, M., Van Moorsel, G.W., Faasse, M.A., Bos, O.G., Degraer, S. and Lindeboom, H.J., 2020. Benthic biodiversity on old platforms, young wind farms, and rocky reefs. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 77(3), pp.1250-1265.
- Coolen, J.W., Vanaverbeke, J., Dannheim, J., Garcia, C., Birchenough, S.N., Krone, R. and Beermann, J., 2022. Generalized changes of benthic communities after construction of wind farms in the southern North Sea. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 315, p.115173.
- Copping, A.E., Hemery, L.G., Overhus, D.M., Garavelli, L., Freeman, M.C., Whiting, J.M., Gorton, A.M., Farr, H.K., Rose, D.J. and Tugade, L.G., 2020. Potential environmental effects of marine renewable energy development—the state of the science. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, 8(11), pp.879.
- Cutajar, K., Falconer, L., Massa-Gallucci, A., Cox, R.E., Schenke, L., Bardócz, T., Sharman, A., Deguara, S. and Telfer, T.C., 2022. Culturing the sea cucumber Holothuria poli in open-water integrated multi-trophic aquaculture at a coastal Mediterranean fish farm. *Aquaculture*, 550, p.737881.
- Dähne, M., Tougaard, J., Carstensen, J., Rose, A. and Nabe-Nielsen, J., 2017. Bubble curtains attenuate noise from offshore wind farm construction and reduce temporary habitat loss for harbour porpoises. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 580, pp.221-237.
- Dalton, G., Bardócz, T., Blanch, M., Campbell, D., Johnson, K., Lawrence, G., Lilas, T., Friis-Madsen, E., Neumann, F., Nikitas, N. and Ortega, S.T., 2019. Feasibility of investment in Blue Growth multiple-use of space and multi-use platform projects; results of a novel assessment approach and case studies. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 107, pp.338-359.
- Dannheim, J., Bergström, L., Birchenough, S.N., Brzana, R., Boon, A.R., Coolen, J.W., Dauvin, J.C., De Mesel, I., Derweduwen, J., Gill, A.B. and Hutchison, Z.L., 2020. Benthic effects of offshore renewables: identification of knowledge gaps and urgently needed research. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 77(3), pp.1092-1108.
- Day, J., Dudley, N., Hockings, M., Holmes, G., Laffoley, D., Stolton, S., Wells, S. and Wenzel, L. (eds.) 2019. Guidelines for Applying the IUCN Protected Area Management Categories to Marine Protected Areas. Second Edition. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. https://portals.iucn.org/library/node/10201 accessed 9 March 2023.
- De Mesel, I., Kerckhof, F., Norro, A., Rumes, B. and Degraer, S., 2015. Succession and seasonal dynamics of the epifauna community on offshore wind farm foundations and their role as stepping stones for non-indigenous species. *Hydrobiologia*, 756, pp.37-50.
- DECC 2009. UK Offshore Energy Strategic Environmental Assessment. Future Leasing for Offshore Wind Farms and Licensing for Offshore Oil & Gas and Gas Storage Environmental Report. Department of Energy and Climate Change, London, UK cited in Ashley et al., 2018.
- DECC 2016. UK Offshore Energy Strategic Environmental Assessment. Department of Energy and Climate Change, London, UK.
- Defingou, M., Bils, F., Horchler, B., Liesenjohann, T. and Nehls, G., 2019. *PHAROS4MPAs A Review of Solutions to Avoid and Mitigate Environmental Impacts of Offshore Windfarms*. BioConsult SH, Husum, Germany on behalf of WWF-France.
- Degraer, S., Brabant, R., Rumes, B. & Vigin, L. (eds). 2021. Environmental Impacts of Offshore Wind Farms in the Belgian Part of the North Sea: Attraction, avoidance and habitat use at various spatial scales. Memoirs on the Marine Environment. Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, OD Natural Environment, Marine Ecology and Management, Brussels, Belgium.
- Degraer, S., Carey, D.A., Coolen, J.W., Hutchison, Z.L., Kerckhof, F., Rumes, B. and Vanaverbeke, J., 2020. Offshore wind farm artificial reefs affect ecosystem structure and functioning. *Oceanography*, 33(4), pp.48-57.
- Demmer, J., Lewis, M., Robins, P. and Neill, S., 2022. Evidence of potential synergy between aquaculture and offshore renewable energy. *International Marine Energy Journal*, 5(2), 133-141.
- Di Tullio, G.R., Mariani, P., Benassai, G., Di Luccio, D. and Grieco, L., 2018. Sustainable use of marine resources through offshore wind and mussel farm co-location. *Ecological Modelling*, 367, pp.34-41.

- Dierschke, V., Furness, R.W. and Garthe, S., 2016. Seabirds and offshore wind farms in European waters: Avoidance and attraction. *Biological Conservation*, 202, pp.59-68.
- Dimitropoulos, A. and Kontoleon, A., 2009. Assessing the determinants of local acceptability of wind-farm investment: A choice experiment in the Greek Aegean Islands. *Energy Policy*, 37(5), pp.1842-1854.

DNV, 2023. Spatial Competition Forecast: Ocean's Future to 2050. DNV AS, Høvik, Norway.

Domínguez-Tejo, E., Metternicht, G., Johnston, E. and Hedge, L., 2016. Marine Spatial Planning advancing the Ecosystem-Based Approach to coastal zone management: A review. *Marine Policy*, 72, pp.115-130.

- Dudley, N. (ed.), 2008. Guidelines for Applying Protected Area Management Categories. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.
- EC, 1992. Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora [1992] OJ 1992 L206/7 (Habitats Directive).
- EC, 2009. Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 on the conservation of wild birds [2010] OJ L20/7 (Birds Directive).
- EC, 2020a. Communication From The Commission To The European Parliament, The Council, The European Economic And Social Committee And The Committee Of The Regions. EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030: Bringing nature back into our lives. COM/2020/380 final.
- EC, 2020b. Communication From The Commission to the European Parliament, The Council, The European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. An EU Strategy to harness the potential of offshore renewable energy for a climate neutral future. COM/2020/741 final.
- EC, 2022. Communication From The Commission to the European Parliament, The Council, The European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. REPowerEU Plan. COM(2022) 230 final.
- EC, 2023a. 2030 climate & energy framework. Website at <a href="https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/climate-strategies-targets/2030-climate-energy-framework\_en">https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/climate-strategies-targets/2030-climate-energy-framework\_en</a> accessed 1 March 2023 accessed 9 March 2023.
- EC, 2023b. A European Green Deal. Website <u>https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal en accessed 17 April 2023</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- EC, 2023c. Member States agree new ambition for expanding offshore renewable energy. Website at <u>https://energy.ec.europa.eu/news/member-states-agree-new-ambition-expanding-offshore-renewable-energy-2023-</u> <u>01-19 en</u> accessed 5 June 2023.
- EC, 2023d. Nature restoration law. Website at https://environment.ec.europa.eu/topics/nature-and-biodiversity/naturerestoration-law\_en accessed 17 April 2023
- EC, 2023e. *Natura 2000 sites designation*. Website at https://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/ natura2000/sites/index\_en.htm accessed 17 April 2023.
- EC, 2023f. *The European Maritime Spatial Planning Platform*. Website https://maritime-spatial-planning.ec.europa.eu/accessed 3 March 2023.
- EC, 2023g. Conflict fiche 8: Offshore wind and area-based marine conservation. https://maritime-spatialplanning.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/sector/pdf/8\_offshore\_wind\_conservation.pdf accessed 9 March 2023.
- EC, 2023h. Conflict fiche 5: Offshore wind and commercial fisheries. https://maritime-spatialplanning.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/5\_offshore\_wind\_fisheries\_1.pdf accessed 9 March 2023.
- EC, 2023i. Conflict fiche 7: Maritime transport and offshore wind. https://maritime-spatialplanning.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/sector/pdf/7\_transport\_offshore\_wind\_kg.pdf accessed 9 March 2023.
- EC, 2023j. MUSES Multi-Use Case Studies. https://maritime-spatial-planning.ec.europa.eu/practices/muses-multi-use-casestudies accessed 24 April 2023.
- EC, 2023k. Offshore Low-trophic Aquaculture in Multi-Use Scenario Realisation : Growing seaweed and blue mussels within wind farms. https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/101094065 accessed 6 June 2023.
- EC Directorate-General for Maritime Affairs and Fisheries, 2022. *The EU Blue Economy Report 2022*. https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/156eecbd-d7eb-11ec-a95f-01aa75ed71a1 accessed 9 March 2023.
- Edgar, G.J., Stuart-Smith, R.D., Willis, T.J., Kininmonth, S., Baker, S.C., Banks, S., Barrett, N.S., Becerro, M.A., Bernard, A.T., Berkhout, J. and Buxton, C.D., 2014. Global conservation outcomes depend on marine protected areas with five key features. *Nature*, 506(7487), pp.216-220.
- EEA, 2015a. Marine protected areas in Europe's seas: An overview and perspectives for the future. EAA Report 3/2015. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen, Denmark
- EEA, 2015b. Spatial analysis of marine protected area networks in Europe's seas. EAA Report 17/2015. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen, Denmark
- EEA, 2018. Marine Protected Areas. Briefing No 13/2018. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/marine-protected-areas
- EEA, 2019. SPA Östliche Deutsche Bucht. Website https://eunis.eea.europa.eu/sites/DE1011401 material posted 22 April 2019; accessed 10 March 2023.
- EEA, 2023. Briefing: Management effectiveness in the EU's Natura 2000 network of protected areas. European Environment Agency, Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/management-effectiveness-in-the-eus
- Ehler, C. and Douvere, F., 2009. *Marine Spatial Planning: a step-by-step approach toward ecosystem-based management.* Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission and Man and the Biosphere Programme, Paris, France.
- Ekstrom, J., Bennun, L. and Mitchell, R., 2015. A Cross-Sector Guide for Implementing the Mitigation Hierarchy. The Biodiversity Consultancy, Cambridge, UK.
- EU, 2008. Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 establishing a framework for community action in the field of marine environmental policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive) [2008] OJ L164/136 (MSFD).

- EU, 2014. Directive 2014/89/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 July 2014 establishing a framework for maritime spatial planning [2014] OJ L257/135.
- EU, 2018. Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (recast) L 328/82.
- EU, 2019. Managing Natura 2000 sites. The provisions of Article 6 of the 'Habitats' Directive 92/43/EEC. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/natura2000/management/docs/art6/EN\_art\_6\_guide\_jun\_2019.pdf
- accessed 9 March 2023. EU, 2020. *Guidance document on wind energy developments and EU nature legislation*. Publications Office of the European Union. Luxembourg.
- Exley, G., Hernandez, R.R., Page, T., Chipps, M., Gambro, S., Hersey, M., Lake, R., Zoannou, K.S. and Armstrong, A., 2021. Scientific and stakeholder evidence-based assessment: Ecosystem response to floating solar photovoltaics and implications for sustainability. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 152, p.111639.
- Fayram, A.H. and De Risi, A., 2007. The potential compatibility of offshore wind power and fisheries: an example using bluefin tuna in the Adriatic Sea. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 50(8), pp.597-605.
- Fenberg, P.B., Caselle, J.E., Claudet, J., Clemence, M., Gaines, S.D., García-Charton, J.A., Gonçalves, E.J., Grorud-Colvert, K., Guidetti, P., Jenkins, S.R. and Jones, P.J., 2012. The science of European marine reserves: Status, efficacy, and future needs. *Marine Policy*, 36(5), pp.1012-1021.
- Fowler, A.M., Jørgensen, A.M., Coolen, J.W., Jones, D.O., Svendsen, J.C., Brabant, R., Rumes, B. and Degraer, S., 2020. The ecology of infrastructure decommissioning in the North Sea: what we need to know and how to achieve it. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 77(3), pp.1109-1126.
- Furness, R.W., Wade, H.M. and Masden, E.A., 2013. Assessing vulnerability of marine bird populations to offshore wind farms. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 119, pp.56-66.
- Gallardo, B., Aldridge, D.C., González-Moreno, P., Pergl, J., Pizarro, M., Pyšek, P., Thuiller, W., Yesson, C. and Vilà, M., 2017. Protected areas offer refuge from invasive species spreading under climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 23(12), pp.5331-5343.
- Galparsoro, I., Menchaca, I., Garmendia, J.M., Borja, Á., Maldonado, A.D., Iglesias, G. and Bald, J., 2022. Reviewing the ecological impacts of offshore wind farms. *npj Ocean Sustainability*, 1(1), p.1.
- Garthe, S., Schwemmer, H., Peschko, V., Markones, N., Müller, S., Schwemmer, P. and Mercker, M., 2023. Large-scale effects of offshore wind farms on seabirds of high conservation concern. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), p.4779.
- Geburzi, J.C. and McCarthy, M.L., 2018. How do they do it?–Understanding the success of marine invasive species. In YOUMARES 8–Oceans Across Boundaries: Learning from each other: Proceedings of the 2017 conference for YOUng MARine RESearchers in Kiel, Germany. Springer International Publishing, pp.109-124.
- Gee, K., 2010. Offshore wind power development as affected by seascape values on the German North Sea coast. Land Use *Policy*, 27(2), pp.185-194.
- Gentili, E., 2023. Weber fails to derail EU Green Deal, but Parliament agrees to a weakened Nature Restoration Law. European Environmental Bureau press release, 12 July 2023. Available at https://eeb.org/weber-fails-to-derail-eugreen-deal-but-parliament-agrees-to-a-weakened-nature-restoration-law/
- Get Nature Positive, 2023. Ørsted: Fishing in a Wind Farm Holderness Lobster Fishery. Website at <a href="https://getnaturepositive.com/gnp-case-studies/orsted-fishing-in-a-wind-farm-holderness-lobster-fishery/24">https://getnaturepositive.com/gnp-case-studies/orsted-fishing-in-a-wind-farm-holderness-lobster-fishery/</a> accessed 24 April 2023.
- Ghent University, 2023. UNITED project: Offshore wind, flat oyster aquaculture & restoration, & seaweed research in Belgium. Website at <a href="https://www.ugent.be/bw/asae/en/research/aquaculture/research/projects/united.htm">https://www.ugent.be/bw/asae/en/research/aquaculture & restoration, & seaweed research in Belgium. Website at <a href="https://www.ugent.be/bw/asae/en/research/aquaculture/research/projects/united.htm">https://www.ugent.be/bw/asae/en/research/aquaculture & restoration, & seaweed research in Belgium. Website at <a href="https://www.ugent.be/bw/asae/en/research/aquaculture/research/projects/united.htm">https://www.ugent.be/bw/asae/en/research/aquaculture/research/projects/united.htm</a> accessed 24 April 2023.
- Giakoumi, S. and Pey, A., 2017. Assessing the effects of marine protected areas on biological invasions: a global review. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 4, p.49.
- Gill, D.A., Mascia, M.B., Ahmadia, G.N., Glew, L., Lester, S.E., Barnes, M., Craigie, I., Darling, E.S., Free, C.M., Geldmann, J. and Holst, S., 2017. Capacity shortfalls hinder the performance of marine protected areas globally. Nature, 543(7647), pp.665-669.
- Gimpel, A., Stelzenmüller, V., Grote, B., Buck, B.H., Floeter, J., Núñez-Riboni, I., Pogoda, B. and Temming, A., 2015. A GIS modelling framework to evaluate marine spatial planning scenarios: Co-location of offshore wind farms and aquaculture in the German EEZ. *Marine Policy*, 55, pp.102-115.
- Glarou, M., Zrust, M. and Svendsen, J.C., 2020. Using artificial-reef knowledge to enhance the ecological function of offshore wind turbine foundations: Implications for fish abundance and diversity. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, 8(5), p.332.
- Glasson, J., Durning, B. and Welch, K., 2022. The impacts of offshore wind farms (OWFs) on local tourism and recreation-evolving lessons from practice. *Journal of Energy and Power Technology*, 4(4), pp.1-19.
- Government of the Netherlands, 2015. Policy Document on the North Sea 2016-2021 including the Netherlands' Maritime Spatial Plan. Dutch Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management and the Dutch Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Policy, The Hague, The Netherlands. <u>https://www.noordzeeloket.nl/en/policy/noordzeebeleid/beleidsnota-noordzee/</u>
- Gouezo, M., Golbuu, Y., Fabricius, K., Olsudong, D., Mereb, G., Nestor, V., Wolanski, E., Harrison, P. and Doropoulos, C., 2019. Drivers of recovery and reassembly of coral reef communities. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 286(1897), p.20182908.
- Griffin, R.A., Robinson, G.J., West, A., Gloyne-Phillips, I.T. and Unsworth, R.K., 2016. Assessing fish and motile fauna around offshore windfarms using stereo baited video. *PLoS One*, 11(3), p.e0149701.
- Grip, K. and Blomqvist, S., 2020. Marine nature conservation and conflicts with fisheries. Ambio, 49, pp.1328-1340.

- Grosso, L., Rakaj, A., Fianchini, A., Morroni, L., Cataudella, S. and Scardi, M., 2021. Integrated Multi-Trophic Aquaculture (IMTA) system combining the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*, as primary species, and the sea cucumber *Holothuria tubulosa* as extractive species. *Aquaculture*, 534, p.736268.
- Gubbay, S., Sanders, N., Haynes, T., Janssen, J.A.M., Rodwell, J.R., Nieto, A., García Criado, M., Beal, S., Borg, J., Kennedy, M., Micu, D., Otero, M., Saunders, G. and Calix, M., 2016. *European Red List of Habitats. Part I: Marine Habitats*. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2016-079-vol.1.pdf accessed 9 March 2023.

- Gusatu, L.F., Yamu, C., Zuidema, C. and Faaij, A., 2020. A spatial analysis of the potentials for offshore wind farm locations in the North Sea region: Challenges and opportunities. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 9(2), p.96.
- Gutow, L., Teschke, K., Schmidt, A., Dannheim, J., Krone, R., Gusky, M., 2014. Rapid increase of benthic structural and functional diversity at the alpha ventus offshore test site. In: *Ecological Research at the Offshore Windfarm Alpha Ventus*. Springer, Wiesbaden, pp. 67–81.
- Haggett, C., Brink, T.T., Russell, A., Roach, M., Firestone, J., Dalton, T. and McCay, B.J., 2020. Offshore wind projects and fisheries. *Oceanography*, 33(4), pp.38-47.
- Halpern, B.S., 2003. The impact of marine reserves: do reserves work and does reserve size matter? *Ecological Applications*, 13(sp1), pp.117-137.
- Hammar, L., Andersson, S. and Rosenberg, R., 2008. *Miljömässig optimering av fundament för havsbaserad vindkraft* [Adapting offshore wind power foundations to local environment]. Rapport 582. Naturvårdsverket, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Hammar, L., Molander, S., Pålsson, J., Crona, J.S., Carneiro, G., Johansson, T., Hume, D., Kågesten, G., Mattsson, D., Törnqvist, O. and Zillén, L., 2020. Cumulative impact assessment for ecosystem-based marine spatial planning. *Science of the Total Environment*, 734, p.139024.
- Hammar, L., Perry, D. and Gullström, M., 2016. Offshore wind power for marine conservation. *Open Journal of Marine Science*, 6(1), pp.66-78.
- Haram, L.E., Carlton, J.T., Centurioni, L., Choong, H., Cornwell, B., Crowley, M., Egger, M., Hafner, J., Hormann, V., Lebreton, L., Maximenko, N., McCuller, M., Murray, C., Par, J., Shcherbina, A., Wright, C. and Ruiz, G.M., 2023. Extent and reproduction of coastal species on plastic debris in the North Pacific Subtropical Gyre. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-023-01997-y</u>
- Heinänen, S., Žydelis, R., Kleinschmidt, B., Dorsch, M., Burger, C., Morkūnas, J., Quillfeldt, P. and Nehls, G., 2020. Satellite telemetry and digital aerial surveys show strong displacement of red-throated divers (*Gavia stellata*) from offshore wind farms. Marine environmental research, 160, p.104989.
- HELCOM, 2021. *Red List of Species*. Website <u>https://helcom.fi/baltic-sea-trends/biodiversity/red-list-of-baltic-species/</u> accessed 1 March 2023.
- Hermans, A., Bos, O.G. and Prusina, I., 2020. *Nature-Inclusive Design: a catalogue for offshore wind infrastructure: Technical report for the Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality.* Witteveen and Bos, The Hague, The Netherlands.
- Hooper, T., Ashley, M. and Austen, M., 2018. Capturing benefits: opportunities for the co-location of offshore energy and fisheries. In *Offshore Energy and Marine Spatial Planning* (pp. 189-213). Routledge.
- Hooper, T. and Austen, M., 2014. The co-location of offshore windfarms and decapod fisheries in the UK: Constraints and opportunities. *Marine Policy*, 43, pp.295-300.
- Hooper, T., Hattam, C. and Austen, M., 2017. Recreational use of offshore wind farms: Experiences and opinions of sea anglers in the UK. *Marine Policy*, 78, pp.55-60.
- Hosseinzadeh, S., Etemad-Shahidi, A. and Stewart, R.A., 2023. Site selection of combined offshore wind and wave energy farms: a systematic review. *Energies*, 16(4), p.2074.
- Humphreys, J. and Clark, R.W., 2020. A critical history of marine protected areas. In *Marine protected areas* (pp. 1-12). Elsevier.
- Iacarella, J.C., Davidson, I.C. and Dunham, A., 2019. Biotic exchange from movement of 'static' maritime structures. *Biological Invasions*, 21(4), pp.1131-1141.
- Inger, R., Attrill, M.J., Bearhop, S., Broderick, A.C., James Grecian, W., Hodgson, D.J., Mills, C., Sheehan, E., Votier, S.C., Witt, M.J. and Godley, B.J., 2009. Marine renewable energy: potential benefits to biodiversity? An urgent call for research. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46(6), pp.1145-1153.
- IPBES, 2019. *Global Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services*. Brondízio, E.S., Settele, J., Díaz, S., and Ngo, H.T. (eds). IPBES Secretariat, Bonn, Germany.
- IPCC, 2023. AR6 Synthesis Report Climate Change 2023. Synthesis Report of the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Geneva, Switzerland. Available online at <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/</u> accessed 2 August 2023.
- IUCN WCPA 2021. Conserving at Least 30% of the Planet By 2030 What Should Count? IUCN World Commission on Protected Areas, Gland, Switzerland. Factsheet available online at <u>https://www.iucn.org/resources/factsheet/conserving-least-30-planet-2030-what-should-count</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- IUCN WCPA Task Force on OECMs, 2019. *Recognising and Reporting Other Effective Area-Based Conservation Measures*. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.CH.2019.PATRS.3.en
- Janipour, Z. 2023. *Great Efforts Required To Achieve EU Countries' National Offshore Wind Energy Targets*. Posted by Radobank on 25 January 2023. <u>https://www.rabobank.com/knowledge/d011347929-great-efforts-required-to-achieve-</u> <u>eu-countries-national-offshore-wind-energy-targets</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- Jentoft, S. and Knol, M., 2014. Marine spatial planning: risk or opportunity for fisheries in the North Sea? *Maritime Studies*, 12, pp.1-16.
- Jimeno, J.F., 2007. *Harnessing the Wind*. Philippine Center for Investigative Journalism. Online report available at <a href="https://old.pcij.org/stories/harnessing-the-wind/">https://old.pcij.org/stories/harnessing-the-wind/</a> accessed 24 April 2023.

- JNCC, 2023a. *Outer Thames Estuary SPA*. <u>https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/outer-thames-estuary-spa/#evidence</u> accessed 30 June 2023.
- JNCC, 2023b. *Liverpool Bay / Bae Lerpwl SPA*. Website <u>https://jncc.gov.uk/our-work/liverpool-bay-spa/#summary</u> accessed 30 June 2023.
- Kafas, A. 2017. MUSES [Multi-Use in European Seas] Project Case Study 1A: Offshore Wind and Commercial Fisheries in the East Coast of Scotland. MUSES Deliverable: D.3.3. https://sites.dundee.ac.uk/muses/wp-
- content/uploads/sites/70/2018/02/ANNEX-1-CASESTUDY-1A.pdf accessed 9 March 2023. Kahlert, J., Petersen, I.K., Fox, A.D., Desholm, M. and Clausager, I., 2004. Investigations of birds during construction and operation of Nysted offshore wind: Annual status report 2003. NERI, Misnitry of the Environment, Denmark.
- Karlõševa, A., Nõmmann, S., Nõmmann, T., Urbel-Piirsalu, E., Budziński, W., Czajkowski, M. and Hanley, N., 2016. Marine trade-offs: Comparing the benefits of off-shore wind farms and marine protected areas. *Energy Economics*, 55, pp.127-134.
- King, S., 2019. Seabirds: collision. In M.R. Perrow (ed.), Wildlife and Wind Farms, Conflicts and Solutions, Volume 3 Offshore: Potential Effects. Pelagic Publishing, Exeter, UK, pp. 206-234.
- King, S. L., Schick, R. S., Donovan, C., Booth, C. G., Burgman, M., Thomas, L. and Harwood, J., 2015. An interim framework for assessing the population consequences of disturbance. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 6(10), pp.1150-1158.
- Kite-Powell, H.L., 2017. Economics of Multi-use and Co-location. Aquaculture Perspective of Multi-Use Sites in the Open Ocean: The Untapped Potential for Marine Resources in the Anthropocene, Springer, pp.233-249.
- Korpinen, S., Laamanen, L., Bergström, L., Nurmi, M., Andersen, J.H., Haapaniemi, J., Harvey, E.T., Murray, C.J., Peterlin, M., Kallenbach, E. and Klančnik, K., 2021. Combined effects of human pressures on Europe's marine ecosystems. *Ambio*, 50, pp.1325-1336.
- Koschinski, S. and Lüdemann, K., 2020. *Noise Mitigation for the Construction of Increasingly Large Offshore Wind Turbines: Technical options for complying with noise limits.* Report commissioned by the Federal Agency for Nature Conservation, Isle of Vilm, Germany.
- Kuehn, S., 2005. Sociological investigation of the reception of Horns Rev and Nysted offshore wind farms in the local communities. Annual Status Report 2003. Elsam Engineering, Fredericia, Denmark. https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/servlets/purl/20780434 accessed 9 March 2023.
- Laffoley, D., Baxter, J.M., Day, J.C., Wenzel, L., Bueno, P. and Zischka, K., 2019. Marine protected areas. In World Seas: An Environmental Evaluation (pp. 549-569). Academic Press.
- Lagerveld, S., Noort, C.A., Meesters, L., Bach, L., Bach, P. and Geelhoed, S., 2020. Assessing Fatality Risk of Bats at Offshore Wind Turbines (No. C025/20). Wageningen Marine Research, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- Lal, P., Wolde, B., Oluoch, S., Ranjan, A., Wieczerak, T., Shoaib, N., Provost, N. and Birur, D., 2021. The Potential of Offshore Wind Energy Tourism in Ocean City, New Jersey. White Paper submitted by Montclair State University CESAC to Orsted, Boston, USA.
- Langhamer, O. and Wilhelmsson, D., 2009. Colonisation of fish and crabs of wave energy foundations and the effects of manufactured holes–a field experiment. *Marine Environmental Research*, 68(4), pp.151-157.
- Largey, N., Cook, A.S., Thaxter, C.B., McCluskie, A., Stokke, B.G., Wilson, B. and Masden, E.A., 2021. Methods to quantify avian airspace use in relation to wind energy development. *Ibis*, 163(3), pp.747-764.
- Li, C., Coolen, J.W., Scherer, L., Mogollón, J.M., Braeckman, U., Vanaverbeke, J., Tukker, A. and Steubing, B., 2023. Offshore wind energy and marine biodiversity in the North Sea: life cycle impact assessment for benthic communities. *Environmental Science & Technology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c07797</u>
- Lindeboom, H.J., 1995. Protected areas in the North Sea: an absolute need for future marine research. *Helgoländer Meeresuntersuchungen*, 49, pp.591-602.
- Lloret, J., Turiel, A., Solé, J., Berdalet, E., Sabatés, A., Olivares, A., Gili, J.M., Vila-Subirós, J. and Sardá, R., 2022. Unravelling the ecological impacts of large-scale offshore wind farms in the Mediterranean Sea. *Science of the Total Environment*, 824, p.153803.
- Lüdeke, J., 2018. Exploitation of offshore wind energy. In *Handbook on Marine Environment Protection* (pp. 165-188). Springer, Cham.
- Masden, E.A. and Cook, A.S.C.P., 2016. Avian collision risk models for wind energy impact assessments. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 56, pp.43-49.
- Mauffrey, F., Cordier, T., Apothéloz-Perret-Gentil, L., Cermakova, K., Merzi, T., Delefosse, M., Blanc, P. and Pawlowski, J., 2021. Benthic monitoring of oil and gas offshore platforms in the North Sea using environmental DNA metabarcoding. *Molecular Ecology*, 30(13), pp.3007-3022.
- Maxwell, S.L., Cazalis, V., Dudley, N., Hoffmann, M., Rodrigues, A.S., Stolton, S., Visconti, P., Woodley, S., Kingston, N.,
- Lewis, E. and Maron, M., 2020. Area-based conservation in the twenty-first century. *Nature*, 586(7828), pp.217-227.
   May, R., Nygård, T., Falkdalen, U., Åström, J., Hamre, Ø. and Stokke, B.G., 2020. Paint it black: Efficacy of increased wind turbine rotor blade visibility to reduce avian fatalities. *Ecology and Evolution*, 10(16), pp.8927-8935.
- Mazaris, A.D., Kallimanis, A., Gissi, E., Pipitone, C., Danovaro, R., Claudet, J., Rilov, G., Badalamenti, F., Stelzenmüller, V., Thiault, L. and Benedetti-Cecchi, L., 2019. Threats to marine biodiversity in European protected areas. *Science of the Total Environment*, 677, pp.418-426.
- Mazik, M. and Smyth, K., 2013. *Is 'minimising the footprint' an effective intervention to maximise the recovery of intertidal sediments from disturbance? Phase 1: Literature review.* Natural England Commissioned Reports, Number 110, NECR110. Natural England, London, UK.
- McGowan, L., Jay, S. and Kidd, S., 2019. Scenario-building for marine spatial planning. In Zaucha, J. and Gee, K. (eds). *Maritime Spatial Planning: past, present, future,* pp.327-351. Springer Nature, Cham, Switzerland

- Mendel, B., Schwemmer, P., Peschko, V., Müller, S., Schwemmer, H., Mercker, M. and Garthe, S., 2019. Operational offshore wind farms and associated ship traffic cause profound changes in distribution patterns of Loons (*Gavia* spp.). *Journal of Environmental Management*, 231, pp.429-438.
- Methratta, E.T. and Dardick, W.R., 2019. Meta-analysis of finfish abundance at offshore wind farms. *Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture*, 27(2), pp.242-260.
- Morris, L.J., Hall, L.M., Jacoby, C.A., Chamberlain, R.H., Hanisak, M.D., Miller, J.D. and Virnstein, R.W., 2022. Seagrass in a changing estuary, the Indian River Lagoon, Florida, United States. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8, p.2121.
- Nehls, G., Harwood, A.J.P. and Perrow, M.R. 2019. Marine mammals. In M.R. Perrow (ed.), *Wildlife and Wind Farms, Conflicts and Solutions, Volume 3 Offshore: Potential Effects.* Pelagic Publishing, Exeter, UK, pp. 112-141.
- NER and DNV, 2021. Accommodating Biodiversity in Nordic Offshore Wind Projects. Nordic Energy Research, Oslo, Norway. https://www.nordicenergy.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Pdf-version.pdf
- Newton, I. and Little, B., 2009. Assessment of wind-farm and other bird casualties from carcasses found on a Northumbrian beach over an 11-year period. *Bird Study*, 56(2), pp.158-167.
- Nogues, Q., Raoux, A., Araignous, E., Chaalali, A., Hattab, T., Leroy, B., Lasram, F.B.R., David, V., Le Loc'H, F., Dauvin, J.C. and Niquil, N., 2021. Cumulative effects of marine renewable energy and climate change on ecosystem properties: Sensitivity of ecological network analysis. *Ecological Indicators*, 121, p.107128.
- Nordic Energy Research, 2023. *Coexistence and Nature-Inclusive Design in Nordic Offshore Wind Farms*. Nordic Energy Research, Oslo, Norway. http://doi.org/10.6027/NER2023-01
- OCEaN, 2021. *Messages on Marine Spatial Planning*. Offshore Coalition for Energy and Nature. Available at <u>https://offshore-coalition.eu/pictures/msp-messages.pdf</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- OFB, 2023. Parc Naturel Marin Gulfe de Lion. Website of the Office français de la biodiversité https://parc-marin-golfelion.fr/ accessed 10 March 2023.
- OFL, 2020. The North Sea Agreement. Available from Noordzeeloket website at https://www.noordzeeloket.nl/en/policy/north-sea-agreement/ accessed 9 March 2023.
- OSPAR Commission, 2008a. OSPAR List of Threatened and/or Declining Species and Habitats. Ref. 2008-6. OSPAR Commission, London, UK. <u>https://www.ospar.org/work-areas/bdc/species-habitats</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- OSPAR Commission, 2008b. OSPAR Commission Report: Assessment of the environmental impact of offshore wind-farms. OSPAR Commission, London, UK. https://www.ospar.org/documents?v=7114
- Papworth, S.K., Rist, J., Coad, L. and Milner-Gulland, E.J., 2009. Evidence for shifting baseline syndrome in conservation. *Conservation Letters*, 2(2), pp.93-100.
- Pascual, M., Rossetto, M., Ojea, E., Milchakova, N., Giakoumi, S., Kark, S., Korolesova, D. and Melià, P., 2016. Socioeconomic impacts of marine protected areas in the Mediterranean and Black Seas. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 133, pp.1-10.

Pauly, D., 1995. Anecdotes and the shifting baseline syndrome of fisheries. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 10(10), p.430.

- Pecceu, E., Hostens, K. and Maes, F., 2016. Governance analysis of MPAs in the Belgian part of the North Sea. *Marine Policy*, 71, pp.265-274.
- Percival, S. 2014. *Kentish Flats Offshore Wind Farm: Diver Surveys 2011-12 and 2012-13.* Report by Ecology Consulting, Durham, UK for Vattenfall Wind Power
- Perkol-Finkel, S., Hadary, T., Rella, A., Shirazi, R. and Sella, I., 2018. Seascape architecture–incorporating ecological considerations in design of coastal and marine infrastructure. *Ecological Engineering*, 120, pp.645-654.
- Perrow, M.R. 2019. A synthesis of effects and impacts. In M.R. Perrow (ed.), *Wildlife and Wind Farms, Conflicts and Solutions, Volume 3 Offshore: Potential Effects*. Pelagic Publishing, Exeter, UK, pp. 235-277.
- Petersen, I.K., Christensen, T.K., Kahlert, J., Desholm, M. and Fox, A.D., 2006. *Final results of bird studies at the offshore wind farms at Nysted and Horns Rev. Denmark*. National Environmental Research Institute Report commissioned by DONG Energy and Vattenfall A/S. NERI, Denmark.
- Petersen, I.K., Clausager, I. and Christensen, T.K., 2004. *Bird numbers and distribution in the Horns Rev offshore wind farm area. Annual status report 2003*. Commissioned report to Elsam Engineering A/S. National Environmental Research Institute. 36 pp.
- PISCO, 2011. The Science of Marine Reserves (2nd Edition, Europe). Partnership for Interdisciplinary Studies of Coastal Oceans . www.piscoweb.org. accessed 9 March 2023.
- ProtectedSeas, 2023. ProtectedSeas Navigator. Website https://map.navigatormap.org/ accessed 26 July 2023.
- Ramos, S., Díaz, H. and Soares, C.G., 2022. Potential opportunities of multi-use blue economy concepts in Europe. *Trends in Maritime Technology and Engineering*, Volume 2, pp.461-475.
- Reubens, J.T., Degraer, S. and Vincx, M., 2014. The ecology of benthopelagic fishes at offshore wind farms: a synthesis of 4 years of research. *Hydrobiologia*, 727(1), pp.121-136.
- Révolution Enérgetique, 2022. *Eoliennes flottantes du Golfe du Lion: le projet est sur les rails*. <u>https://www.revolution-energetique.com/eoliennes-flottantes-du-golfe-du-lion-le-projet-est-sur-les-rails/</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- RGI, 2019. *Marine Grid Declaration*. Renewables Grid Initiative, Bonn, Germany. <u>https://renewables-grid.eu/publications/marine-grid-declaration.html</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- Robertson, M., Locke, S., Uttley, M., Helmer, L. and Kean-Hammerson, J., 2021. *Exploring the Role of Offshore Wind in Restoring Priority Marine Habitats.* Blue Marine Foundation, London, UK.
- Röckmann, C., Lagerveld, S. and Stavenuiter, J., 2017. Operation and maintenance costs of offshore wind farms and potential multi-use platforms in the Dutch North Sea. *Aquaculture Perspective of Multi-Use Sites in the Open Ocean: The Untapped Potential for Marine Resources in the Anthropocene*, Springer, pp.97-113.
- RSPB, 2022. *Powering Healthy Seas: Accelerating Nature Positive Offshore Wind*. An RSPB commissioned report. Royal Society for the Protection of Birds, Sandy, UK. <u>https://www.rspb.org.uk/about-the-rspb/about-us/media-centre/press-releases/offshore-wind-report-22/</u> accessed 9 March 2023.

- RSPB, 2023. Forth and Tay Wind Farms. https://www.rspb.org.uk/our-work/casework/cases/forth-and-tay-wind-farms/ accessed 9 March 2023.
- Rudolph, D., 2014. The resurgent conflict between offshore wind farms and tourism: Underlying storylines. *Scottish Geographical Journal*, 130(3), pp.168-187.
- Russell, D.J., Hastie, G.D., Thompson, D., Janik, V.M., Hammond, P.S., Scott-Hayward, L.A., Matthiopoulos, J., Jones, E.L. and McConnell, B.J., 2016. Avoidance of wind farms by harbour seals is limited to pile driving activities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 53(6), pp.1642-1652.
- Sala, E., Mayorga, J., Bradley, D., Cabral, R.B., Atwood, T.B., Auber, A., Cheung, W., Costello, C., Ferretti, F., Friedlander, A.M. and Gaines, S.D., 2021. Protecting the global ocean for biodiversity, food and climate. *Nature*, 592(7854), pp.397-402.
- Sanders, N., Haynes, T. and Goriup, P.D., 2017. Marine protected areas and offshore wind farms. In Goriup, P.D. (ed.), Management of Marine Protected Areas: A Network Perspective. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester, UK, pp.263-280.
- Scheidat, M., Tougaard, J., Brasseur, S., Carstensen, J., van Polanen Petel, T., Teilmann, J. and Reijnders, P., 2011. Harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) and wind farms: a case study in the Dutch North Sea. *Environmental Research Letters*, 6(2), p.025102.
- Schupp, M.F., Bocci, M., Depellegrin, D., Kafas, A., Kyriazi, Z., Lukic, I., Schultz-Zehden, A., Krause, G., Onyango, V. and Buck, B.H., 2019. Toward a common understanding of ocean multi-use. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, p.165.
- Sella, I., Hadary, T., Rella, A.J., Riegl, B., Swack, D. and Perkol-Finkel, S., 2022. Design, production, and validation of the biological and structural performance of an ecologically engineered concrete block mattress: A Nature-Inclusive Design for shoreline and offshore construction. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 18(1), pp.148-162.
- Shabtay, A., Portman, M.E., Manea, E. and Gissi, E., 2019. Promoting ancillary conservation through marine spatial planning. *Science of the Total Environment*, 651, pp.1753-1763.
- Soga, M. and Gaston, K.J., 2018. Shifting baseline syndrome: causes, consequences, and implications. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 16(4), pp.222-230.
- Solandt, J.L., 2018. A stocktake of England's MPA network–taking a global perspective approach. *Biodiversity*, 19(1-2), pp.34-41.
- Soria-Rodríguez, C., 2021. The international regulation for the protection of the environment in the development of marine renewable energy in the EU. *Review of European, Comparative & International Environmental Law*, 30(1), pp.46-60.
- Soukissian, T., Reizopoulou, S., Drakopoulou, P., Axaopoulos, P., Karathanasi, F., Fraschetti, S., Bray, L., Foglini, F., Papadopoulos, A., De Leo, F. and Kyriakidou, C., 2016. Greening offshore wind with the Smart Wind Chart evaluation tool. *Web Ecology*, 16(1), pp.73-80.
- Spyridonidou, S. and Vagiona, D.G., 2020. Systematic review of site-selection processes in onshore and offshore wind energy research. *Energies*, 13(22), p.5906.
- Starmore, G., Iredale, R., and Mulder, S., 2020. Assessment of Relative Impact of Anthropogenic Pressures on Marine Species in Relation to Offshore Wind. Royal Haskoning DHV, Amersfoort, The Netherlands.
- Steins, N.A., Veraart, J.A., Klostermann, J.E. and Poelman, M., 2021. Combining offshore wind farms, nature conservation and seafood: Lessons from a Dutch community of practice. *Marine Policy*, 126, p.104371.
- Stelzenmüller, V., Diekmann, R., Bastardie, F., Schulze, T., Berkenhagen, J., Kloppmann, M., Krause, G., Pogoda, B., Buck, B.H. and Kraus, G., 2016. Co-location of passive gear fisheries in offshore wind farms in the German EEZ of the North Sea: A first socio-economic scoping. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 183, pp.794-805.
- Stelzenmüller, V., Gimpel, A., Haslob, H., Letschert, J., Berkenhagen, J. and Brüning, S., 2021. Sustainable co-location solutions for offshore wind farms and fisheries need to account for socio-ecological trade-offs. *Science of the Total Environment*, 776, p.145918.
- Stenberg, C., Støttrup, J.G., van Deurs, M., Berg, C.W., Dinesen, G.E., Mosegaard, H., Grome, T.M. and Leonhard, S.B., 2015. Long-term effects of an offshore wind farm in the North Sea on fish communities. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 528, pp.257-265.
- Stephenson, P.J. 2021. A Review of Biodiversity Data Needs and Monitoring Protocols for the Offshore Wind Energy Sector in the Baltic Sea and North Sea. Renewables Grid Initiative, Berlin, Germany. <u>https://renewables-grid.eu/fileadmin/user\_upload/\_RGI\_Report\_PJ-Stephenson\_October.pdf</u> accessed 9 March 2023.

Stephenson, P.J. (ed.) 2022. Essential Environmental Concepts for the Offshore Wind Energy Sector in Europe: Discussion Paper. Renewables Grid Initiative, Berlin, Germany. <u>https://renewables-</u> grid.eu/fileadmin/user\_upload/Files\_RGI/RGI\_Formatted\_Discussion\_Paper\_on\_Essential\_Environmental\_Concepts\_Of fshore\_Stephenson.pdf accessed 9 March 2023.

- Stephenson, P.J. and Walls, J.L., 2022. A new biodiversity paradigm for business. *Amplify*, 35(5), pp.6-14. <u>https://www.cutter.com/article/new-biodiversity-paradigm-business</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- Taormina, B., Bald, J., Want, A., Thouzeau, G., Lejart, M., Desroy, N. and Carlier, A., 2018. A review of potential impacts of submarine power cables on the marine environment: Knowledge gaps, recommendations and future directions. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 96, pp.380-391.
- Teilmann, J. and Carstensen, J., 2012. Negative long term effects on harbour porpoises from a large scale offshore wind farm in the Baltic—evidence of slow recovery. *Environmental Research Letters*, 7(4), p.045101.
- Ten Brink, T.S. and Dalton, T., 2018. Perceptions of commercial and recreational fishers on the potential ecological impacts of the Block Island Wind Farm (US). *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 5, p.439.
- Thaxter, C.B., Buchanan, G.M., Carr, J., Butchart, S.H., Newbold, T., Green, R.E., Tobias, J.A., Foden, W.B., O'Brien, S. and Pearce-Higgins, J.W., 2017. Bird and bat species' global vulnerability to collision mortality at wind farms revealed through a trait-based assessment. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 284(1862), p.20170829.
- Thaxter, C.B., Lascelles, B., Sugar, K., Cook, A.S., Roos, S., Bolton, M., Langston, R.H. and Burton, N.H., 2012. Seabird foraging ranges as a preliminary tool for identifying candidate Marine Protected Areas. *Biological Conservation*, 156, pp.53-61.

- Thaxter, C.B., Ross-Smith, V.H. and Cook, A.S.C.P., 2015. *How High Do Birds Fly? A Review of Current Datasets and an Appraisal of Current Methodologies for Collecting Flight Height Data. BTO Research Report No. 666.* British Trust for Ornithology, Thetford, UK.
- The Crown Estate, 2023. *Marine Data Exchange*. Website at https://www.marinedataexchange.co.uk/ accessed 26 June 2023.
- The North Sea Foundation, 2022. *Roll Out Wind at Sea with Respect for Nature: An analysis of potential risks to North Sea nature posed by the offshore wind energy transition.* The North Sea Foundation, Utrecht, The Netherlands. Available at <a href="https://offshore-coalition.eu/publications/north-sea-foundation-publishes-an-analysis-of-potential-risks-to-north-sea-nature-posed-by-offshore-wind-energy-transition">https://offshore-coalition.eu/publications/north-sea-foundation-publishes-an-analysis-of-potential-risks-to-north-sea-nature-posed-by-offshore-wind-energy-transition</a> accessed 9 March 2023.
- The Rich North Sea, 2023. *The Rich North Sea Programme*. Website at https://www.derijkenoordzee.nl/en accessed 22 April 2023.
- Thurstan, R.H., Yates, K.L. and O'Leary, B.C., 2018. Compatibility of offshore energy installations with marine protected areas. In Yates, K.L. & Bradshaw, C.J.A. (eds), *Offshore Energy and Marine Spatial Planning* (pp. 214-230). Routledge, Abingdon, UK.
- Tomé, R., Canário, F., Leitão, A.H., Pires, N. and Repas, M., 2017. Radar assisted shutdown on demand ensures zero soaring bird mortality at a wind farm located in a migratory flyway. Pp. 119-133 in Köppel, J. (ed.), *Wind Energy and Wildlife Interactions*. Springer, Cham, Switzerland.
- Tripadvisor, 2023. *Der Hafenbus*. Website at <u>https://www.tripadvisor.com/Attraction\_Review-g187326-d3155756-Reviews-Der\_HafenBus-Bremerhaven.html</u> accessed 24 April 2023.
- Trouillet, B. and Jay, S., 2021. The complex relationships between marine protected areas and marine spatial planning: Towards an analytical framework. *Marine Policy*, 127, p.104441.
- Tsai, Y.M. and Lin, C.Y., 2021. Investigation on improving strategies for navigation safety in the offshore wind farm in Taiwan Strait. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, 9(12), p.1448.
- Tullberg, R.M., Nguyen, H.P. and Wang, C.M., 2022. Review of the status and developments in seaweed farming infrastructure. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, 10(10), p.1447.
- ULTFARMS, 2023. *Circular low trophic offshore aquaculture in wind farms and restoration of marine space*. Website at <a href="https://ultfarms.eu/">https://ultfarms.eu/</a> accessed 24 April 2023.
- UN, 2021. The Second World Ocean Assessment. World Ocean Assessment II, Volume II. United Nations, New York, USA.
- UNEP, 2019. *Global Environment Outlook GEO-6: Healthy Planet, Healthy People*. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya.
- UNEP, 2021. For People and Planet: the United Nations Environment Programme strategy for 2022–2025 to tackle climate change, loss of nature and pollution. UNEP/EA.5/3/Rev.1, 17 February 2021.
- UNEP-WCMC, 2014, Biodiversity A-Z website: www.biodiversitya-z.org, UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge, UK.
- UNEP-WCMC, 2023. Protected Planet: the World Database on Protected Areas. Available at: <u>www.protectedplanet.net</u> accessed 25 April 2023.
- UNEP-WCMC and IUCN, 2021. *Protected Planet Report 2020*. UNEP-WCMC and IUCN, Cambridge UK and Gland, Switzerland.
- UNESCO-IOC/European Commission, 2021. MSPglobal International Guide on Marine/Maritime Spatial Planning. IOC Manuals and Guides no. 89. UNESCO, Paris, France.
- Vaissière, A.C., Levrel, H., Pioch, S. and Carlier, A., 2014. Biodiversity offsets for offshore wind farm projects: The current situation in Europe. *Marine Policy*, 48, pp.172-183.
- van den Burg, S.W., Röckmann, C., Banach, J.L. and Van Hoof, L., 2020. Governing risks of multi-use: seaweed aquaculture at offshore wind farms. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7, p.60.
- van den Burg, S.W.K., Skirtun, M., van der Valk, O., Cervi, W.R., Selnes, T., Neumann, T., Steinmann, J., Arora, G. and Roebeling, P., 2023. Monitoring and evaluation of maritime spatial planning–A review of accumulated practices and guidance for future action. *Marine Policy*, 150, p.105529.
- van der Stap, T., Coolen, J.W. and Lindeboom, H.J., 2016. Marine fouling assemblages on offshore gas platforms in the southern North Sea: effects of depth and distance from shore on biodiversity. *PLoS One*, 11(1), p.e0146324.
- van Hal, R., Couperus, B., Fassler, S., Gastauer, S., Griffioen, B., Hintzen, N., Teal, L., van Keeken, O and Winter, E. 2012. Monitoring and Evaluation Program Near Shore Wind farm (MEP-NSW): Fish community. IMARES Report C059/12 for NoordzeeWind. IMARES Wageningen UR, Wageningen, Netherlands.
- Van Hoey, G., Bastardie, F., Birchenough, S., De Backer, A., Gill, A., de Koning, S., Hodgson, S., Mangi Chai, S., Steenbergen, J., Termeer, E., van den Burg, S., Hintzen, N. 2021. Overview of the effects of offshore wind farms on fisheries and aquaculture. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- Vandeperre, F., Higgins, R.M., Sánchez-Meca, J., Maynou, F., Goni, R., Martín-Sosa, P., Pérez-Ruzafa, A., Afonso, P., Bertocci,
   I., Crec'hriou, R. and D'Anna, G., 2011. Effects of no-take area size and age of marine protected areas on fisheries yields:
   a meta-analytical approach. *Fish and Fisheries*, 12(4), pp.412-426.
- Varona, M., Calado H. and Vergílio, M., 2017a. MUSES Case Study 3A. Development of tourism and fishing in the Southern Atlantic Sea (South Coast of Mainland Portugal – Algarve Region – Eastern Atlantic Sea). MUSES Deliverable 3.3. Available at <u>https://muses-project.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/70/2018/02/ANNEX-5-CASE-STUDY-3A.pdf</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- Varona, M., Calado, H. and Vergílio, M., 2017b. MUSES Case Study 3B. Development of tourism and fishing in the Southern Atlantic Sea (Azores Archipelago – Eastern Atlantic Sea). MUSES Deliverable 3.3. Available at <u>https://muses-</u> project.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/70/2018/02/ANNEX-6-CASE-STUDY-3B.pdf accessed 9 March 2023.
- Vasileiou, M., Loukogeorgaki, E. and Vagiona, D.G., 2017. GIS-based multi-criteria decision analysis for site selection of hybrid offshore wind and wave energy systems in Greece. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 73, pp.745-757.

- Vaughan, D. and Agardy, T., 2020. Marine protected areas and marine spatial planning–allocation of resource use and environmental protection. In *Marine Protected Areas* (pp. 13-35). Elsevier.
- Veidemane, K., Ruskule, A. and Sprukta, S., 2017. *Development of a maritime spatial plan: The Latvian recipe*. Baltic Scope, European Union, European Maritime and Fisheries Fund. <u>http://www.balticscope.eu/content/uploads/2015/07/LV-recipe\_EN\_web.pdf</u> accessed 9 March 2023.
- Vilela, R., Burger, C., Diederichs, A., Nehls, G., Bachl, F., Szostek, L., Freund, A., Braasch, A., Bellebaum, J., Beckers, B. and Piper, W., 2020. Divers (Gavia spp.) in the German North Sea: Changes in Abundance and Effects of Offshore Wind Farms. A Study into Diver Abundance and Distribution Based on Aerial Survey Data in the German North Sea. BioConsult SH, School of Mathematics, University of Edinburgh, IBL Umweltplanung, Institut für angewandte Ökosystemforschung, Husum (DEU). Husum: BioConsult SH GmbH & Co KG.
- Wageningen University & Research, 2023. Scour protection design for biodiversity enhancement in North Sea Offshore Wind Farms. Website at <u>https://www.wur.nl/en/Research-Results/Research-Institutes/marine-research/show-marine/benso.htm</u> accessed 25 April 2023.
- Watson, S.M., McLean, D.L., Balcom, B.J., Birchenough, S.N., Brand, A.M., Camprasse, E.C., Claisse, J.T., Coolen, J.W., Cresswell, T., Fokkema, B. and Gourvenec, S., 2023. Offshore decommissioning horizon scan: Research priorities to support decision-making activities for oil and gas infrastructure. *Science of the Total Environment*, 878, p.163015.
- Weiss, C.V., Ondiviela, B., Guinda, X., del Jesus, F., González, J., Guanche, R. and Juanes, J.A., 2018. Co-location opportunities for renewable energies and aquaculture facilities in the Canary Archipelago. Ocean & Coastal Management, 166, pp.62-71.
- Westerberg, V., Jacobsen, J.B. and Lifran, R., 2013. The case for offshore wind farms, artificial reefs and sustainable tourism in the French Mediterranean. *Tourism Management*, 34, pp.172-183.
- Wilhelmsson, D. and Malm, T., 2008. Fouling assemblages on offshore wind power plants and adjacent substrata. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 79(3), pp.459-466.
- Wilhelmsson, D., Malm, T. and Öhman, M.C., 2006. The influence of offshore windpower on demersal fish. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 63(5), pp.775-784.
- Wind op zee, 2023. *Windenergiegebied Borssele* (Borselle wind energy area). Website at https://windopzee.nl/imagemaps/kaart-waar-wanneer/borssele/ accessed 21 April 2023.
- Wolsink, M., 2010. Near-shore wind power—Protected seascapes, environmentalists' attitudes, and the technocratic planning perspective. *Land Use Policy*, 27(2), pp.195-203.
- Woodley, S., Rao, M., MacKinnon, K., Sandwith, T. and Dudley, N., 2021. Speaking a common language on what should count for protecting 30 per cent by 2030?. *Parks*, 27(2), pp.9-14.
- WWF EPO, 2019. *Protecting Our Ocean: Europe's Challenges to Meet the 2020 Deadlines*. WWF European Policy Office, Brussels, Belgium.
- WWF EPO, 2022a. Assessing the Balance between Nature and People in European Seas: Maritime Spatial Planning in the Baltic Sea. WWF European Policy Office, Brussels, Belgium.
- WWF EPO, 2022b. Assessing the Balance between Nature and People in European Seas: Maritime Spatial Planning in the North Sea. WWF European Policy Office, Brussels, Belgium.
- WWF EPO, 2022c. Assessing the Balance between Nature and People in European Seas: Maritime Spatial Planning in the North-East Atlantic Ocean. WWF European Policy Office, Brussels, Belgium.
- WWF EPO, 2022d. 'Go-To Areas' for Renewables: Making the Puzzle Fit. WWF position on the legislative proposal to amend the Renewable Energy Directive as part of 'REPowerEU' September 2022. WWF European Policy Office, Brussels, Belgium.
- WWF-France, 2019. Safeguarding marine protected areas in the growing Mediterranean blue economy. Recommendations for the offshore wind energy sector. PHAROS4MPAs project, WWF-France, Paris, France.
- Yates, K.L., Schoeman, D.S. and Klein, C.J., 2015. Ocean zoning for conservation, fisheries and marine renewable energy: assessing trade-offs and co-location opportunities. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 152, pp.201-209.
- Zintzen, V., Massin, C., Norro, A. and Mallefet, J., 2006. Epifaunal inventory of two shipwrecks from the Belgian Continental Shelf. *Marine Biodiversity: Patterns and Processes, Assessment, Threats, Management and Conservation*, pp.207-219.



© Alexander Belokurov www.imagenature.com

Colocation of Offshore Wind Energy with Marine Protected Areas